UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

MARY S. STOTMEISTER, etal.,

Plaintiffs,
V. Civil Action No. 08-01193 (TFHj

ALION SCIENCE & TECH. CORP.,etal.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Pending before the Courttise Joint Motion for Summary Judgment of Ali&tience
and Technology Corporation, Cherry Hill Construction, Inc., Day & Zimmermanisr
Services, DC Water and M&M Welding & Fabricators, Inc. on the Issue of Frahké&iter's
Contributory NegligencéECF No. 160], which urges the Court to graatmmary judgmenn
the defendantdavor on the ground that the doctrine of contributory negligencetbars
plaintiffs from prevailing on their claims for damages relating to fatal injdiascis (“Frank”)

Stotmeister sustained while working on a construction project on April 23, ZG@t.the

! On July 8, 2011, the Court issued an order consolidating the following caseg: 05-

00545, 06ev-00834, 05ev-00813 and 0&v-01193. Stotmeister v. Alion Science & Tech. Corp.,
No. 05€v-00813, Order (July 8, 2011) [ECF No. 95]. Stipulations of disrgsee later filed
in 05-cv-00545 and 0@&v-00834, as well as in 16+02280, which was another related case that
was never consolidated. Consequently, onlg®81193 and 0%v-00813 remain active. From
this Court’s perspective, this decision and tbeoanpanying order resolve all remaining claims
pending in 08v-01193, with the exception of adiioON FORRECONSIDERATION AND
CLARIFICATION [ECF No. 151] that was filed by Day & Zimmerman Services, Inc. on June 7,
2011. That motion will be addressed sepally. With respect to any causes of action pending|in
05-cv-00813, the Court views this decision as rendering moot those causes of action, sedindica
in the accompanying order.
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motion was filed, the plaintiffs entered into settlement agreements with all the moving
defendants except Day & Zimmerman Group Services (“Day & Zimmermad M&M
Welding & Fabricators, Inc. (“M&M Welding”). Accordingly, the Court consildre merits of
the motion only with respect to Day & Zimmerman and M&M Weldifg@r the reasons set
forth below, the Courtoncludeghat Frank Stotmeistarinjuries were caused by hasvn
contributory negligence so summary judgment in favidd@y & Zimmerman and M&M
Weldingshallbe granted For these same reasons, the Court will deaptotmeister Plaintiffs’
Motion to Reconsider [ECF No. 246] and, accordintgig, Joint Motion to Strike Plaintiffs’
Motion to Reconisler [ECF No. 249] and Plaintiffs’ Motion for Oral Argument [ECF No. 256]
will be denied as moot.
APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure &tandates that “[tlhe Court shall grant summary
judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any matesiad féoe
movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 5&(&ct is material if it
“might affed the outcome of the suit under the governing laitlerson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.,
477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)A dispute over a material fact is genuine “if the evidence is such th
a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving paltly.’At the summary judgment
stage, however, “the judge’s function is not himself to weigh the evidence and detidm@nine
truth of the matter but to determine whether there is a genuine issue forlttiadt”249.
“[T] here is no issue for trial unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the nonrpavindor

a jury to return a verdict for that partyld.
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Although “[t]he evidence is to be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving
party and the court must draw all reasonable inferendesan of the nonmoving party,”
Talavera v. Shah, 638 F.3d 303, 308 (D.C. Cir. 2011)j]f the evidence is merely colorable, or
is not significantly probative, summary judgment may be granfedlérson, 477 U.S. at 249
(internal citations omitted). “Thmere existence of a scintilla of evidence in support of the
plaintiff's position will be insufficient; there must be evidence on which the joujdc
reasonably find for the plaintiff.ld. at 252. The ultimate inquiry is “whether the evidence
presents aufficient disagreement to require submission to a jury or whether it is sidede-s
that one party must prevail as a matter of lava”

The evidence the Court may consider when passing on a summary judgment motion
consists of “materials specified in Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(eglaas any material
that would be admissible or usable at trigEstate of Parsons v. Palestinian Auth., 651 F.3d
118, 145 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (internal quotation marks omitted). Pursuant to Rule 56(c), the C
is not limited to thesvidencecited by the parties but also “may consider other materials in the|
record.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(3). In additiohe Rules of the United States District Court for
the District of Columbiatate that[iln determining a motion for summary judgment, the court
may assume that facts identified by the moving party in its statement of materiakéacts
admitted, unless such a fact is controverted in the statement of genuineiisduepposition
to the motion.” LCvR 7(h)(1),available at http://www.dcd.uscourts.gov/dcd/localles

THE UNDISPUTED FACTS

The Court reviewed the extensive volumésvidencahat constitutéhe record in this

caseand carefully culled and evaluated the facts to determine whether there wgename
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disputes about facts that could be deemed material to the outcome. On the wholeyiisfrankl
surprising how little dispute therewath respect to the facts, particularly in light of the
realization that most of the evidence involved the testimony of withesseg ofinahom were
deposed about the same events multiples times, by multiple attorneys, over a pevedabf s
years. e witnesses in this case were remarkablycordant in theirecollections of the events
that took place during the early morning hours on April 23, 28@there quite simply were few
instances of conflicting evidendeat raisedyenuine dispute$.After consideringall the
evidenceand the entire record in this catiee Court finds the following facts to be undisputed.
A. Grunley-Walsh’s Contract with the General Services Administration

The General Services Administration National Capital Rebjieating Opergon and
Transmission Districtréferred to by its acronym “@SHOTD”) manages and operates the
Steam Distribution Complex, which is'B2-mile distribution pipeline that spiders the central
business district of Washington, D.CEXs. In Supp.of Stotmeister Pls.” Menmof P.& A. In
Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 38, Richard Matkins Dep. 16:1-3 (quote), 198:3{IEc.

12, 2007) [ECF No. 204-5]d. at Ex. 103, Carroll Williams Dep. 23:5-23:11 (Oct. 28, 2009)

2 As a testament to the fact that there was scant contradictory evitten@nurt was able

to relyprincipally on the plaintiffs’-- i.e., the nonmoving parties’evidenceas citation sources
for many if not most, of the undisputed facts. This evidence includes Stotmeister Pls.” Bisp
Material Facts [ECF Ndl96-2], whch the Court notes in most cases dispuiBly an inference
that could be drawn from facts set forth in the defend&tdésement of Material Facts Not In
Dispute [ECF No. 160-1] but nthe facts themselvessee StotmeistePIs.’ Disputed Material
Facts 1%, 12, 20, 21, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 36, 41, 44, 63, 67, 68, 69, 70, 73 [ECF
196-2]. Consequently, most of the facts in the defend&tatement of Material Facts Not In
Dispute [ECF No. 160-1] remain undisputed and supported by the evidence in the case.

3 All facts discussed inther sections of this opinion alae@re determined by the Court to
be undisputed unless expressly identified as disputed he&keinfacts omitted from this
decision were deeméd be immaterial.
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[ECF No. 208-6] (confirming titadhe GSA department that operates hpglssuresteam is

referred to as “HOTD”f. The section of the Steam Distribution Complex that runs beneath 17th

Street provides steam to several federal buildiigsnpare Statement of Material Facts Not In
Dispute 1 1 [ECF No. 160-1)vith Stotmeister PIs.’ Disputed Material Facts [ECF No.-296
(indicating no dispute with paragraph 1).

In 2002,GSA HOTD entered into a taskder contracwvith GrunleyWalsh Joint
Venture, Inc. (“GrunleyWalsh”) that ultmately required GrunleWalsh to replace a section of
the Steam Distribution Complexnning under 17th Strebm theso-called ‘Point of
Connection™- which was locatedt the intersection of 17th Street and New York Aventie
Manhole 8% Compare Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute § 2 [ECF No. 160414,
Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material Facts [ECF No.-2p@ndicating no dispute with paragraph
2); Exs. In Suppof Stotmeister Pls.” Menof P.& A. In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 70,

Basem Soueidan Dep. 118:16-124:18, 129:1-136:22, 145:1-145:7 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF N

206-5]; United StatesSupplemental Mem. In Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 7, Westphal Decl.

4

submittedoy the various partigsursuant to other prior proceedings. To assist the parties or
others who might be reviewing this decision, the I€bas identified not only the title of a
document and pinpoint citatidout also the Electronic Case Filing (‘ECF”) number to facilitate
efficient cross reference to the record evidence. There also are many individosés

O

The evidence in the case is voluminous and many documents cited in this decision were

deposition testimony is citeat who otherwise are identified in this decision so, albeit somewhat

cumbersome, for clarity the Court generally refers to individuals by thiémdme.
> The 2002 contract originally required GrunMalsh to perform asbestos abatement in
the steam tunnels, replace condensate lines and provide new insulation. Exs. In Supp. of
Stotmeister Pls.” Mem.fd. & A. In Opp’n to Mots.for Summ. J. Ex. 70, Baem Soueidan

Dep. 118:16-120:13, 129:2-129:20, 130:22-131:21, 136:11-136:15 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF N¢

206-5]; United States’ Supplemental Mem. In Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 10, Scope of
1 A [ECF No. 122-1]. In 2003, however, a change order modified the contract to require

replacing the steam sgsh. United States’ Supplemental Mem. In Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J.

Ex. 1, Scope of Work 1 8 [ECF No. 122-1].
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91 3 [ECF No. 122-1]tJnited StatesSupplemental Mem. In Supp. of Mot. fSumm. JEx. 10
(Order No. P11-02¥T-0256) [ECF No. 122-1] The project was referred to as the “17th Stree
Steam Distribution Project” and involved, among other things, excavating 17¢h tStremove
the existing steam and condengafees and install new pipes. Exs. In SupipStotmeister PIs.’
Mem.of P.& A. In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 70, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 118:6-118:8
129:15-129:20, 131:7-131:21 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No. 206-5]; Day & Zimmerman’s Opp’'n
the United States’ Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 10, Greg Westphal Decl. | 4 [ECF No. 94-9].
Although Grunley-Walsh was the prime contractor responsible for performing the 171
Street Steam Distribution Project, Grunh4alsh entered into subcontracts withet
companies to assist with the required work. MenP.& A. In Supp. of Pls.’ Partial Opp’n to
Third Party Def. U.S.A.’s Mot. for Summ. J. 2-3 [ECF No. @thting that GrunleyValsh was
hired to be the general contractdgxs. In Suppof Stotmeistr Pls.” Mem.of P.& A. In Opp’n
to Mots.for Summ. J. Ex. 70, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 145:5-145:11 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF N
206-5];id. at Ex. 73, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 31:1-31:8 (May 25, 2010) [ECF No. 206-8].
Grunley-Walsh hired M&M Welding to replace thbemponents of the steam system and instal
temporary boiler in Manhole 11. Mem.Bf & A. In Supp. of Pls.” Partial Opp’n to Third Party
Def. U.S.A.’s Mot. for Summ. J. 3 [ECF No. 97]. GrunM4alsh also contracted with Cherry
Hill Construction, Inc(“Cherry Hill") to excavate, insulate, and perform bditkng services for
the 17th Street Steam Distribution Project. ExsSSupp.of Stotmeister Pls.” Menof P. & A. In
Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 70, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 145:1-145:4 (Mar. 16, 2007) [

No. 206-5].
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After GrunleyWalsh began performing the contract work for the 17th Street Steam
Distribution Project, GSA HOTD issued a change order that modified Gruvidédsh’s contract
to require the installation of aniBch waterserviceline between Manhole 7 and Manhole 9 as
part of an effort to modernize the Old Executive Office Buildi@gmpare Statement of
Material Facts Not In Dispute 1 34 [ECF No. 160vlith Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material
Facts [ECF No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with paragraphc®ipare Statement of Material
Facts Not In Dispute 3 [ECF No. 160-1]with Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material Facts [ECH
No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with paragrd8); Exs. In Suppof Stotmeister Pls.” Menof
P.& A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 70, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 133:2-133:22, 136:1
136:17 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No. 206-4j; at Ex. 33, Thomas Johnson Dep. 340:12-340:16,
450:3-450:10, 484:3-484:11 (Nov. 17, 2010) [ECF No. 203ebht Ex. A4, Brian Staudenmaier
Dep. 51:7-52:5 (Mar. 12, 2008) [ECF No. 2074tl;at Ex. 91, Greg Westphal Decl. 1 5(b)
[ECF No. 207-18]jd. at Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 28:10-29:17, 30:12-31:12 (Dec. 10,
2007) [ECF No. 205-15]Thewaterline tie-in projed involved cutting into the existing A@ch
main water line to connect or “tap” a newrgh water line.Compare Statement of Material
Facts Not In Dispute 1 36 [ECF No. 160-4jth Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material Faft$6
[ECF No. 1962] (assertinghatthe scope of Cherry Hill's work was not limited to cutting and
tapping the water line but otherwise not disputing that “[ijnstallation of the wateice line
required Cherry Hill to tiento existing 20” and 8” water mains m&med by DC Watel)’ Exs.
In Supp.of Stotmeister Pls.” Memof P. & A. In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 91, Greg
Westphal Decl. { 5(b) [ECF No. 207-18]; at Ex. 94, Greg Westphal Dep. 28:17-28:24 (Apr.

13, 2010) [ECF No. 207-21]; Ex. 112, Record of Change Order Negotiation (Mar. 12, 2004)
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[ECF No. 208-15]. Grunley-Walsh subcontractedvifager line tiein project to Cherry Hill.
Compare Statement of Material Facts Not In Disput83[[ECF No. 160-1]with Stotmeister
Pls.’ Disputed Material Fact&{CF No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with paragraph BX¥. In
Supp.of Stotmeister Pls.” Menmof P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 65, Dayrell
Schneider Dep. 28:10-28:20 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 205-15].

By the time Grunleywalsh and Cherry H were setto beginthewater line tiein project,
all work on the 17th Street Steam Distribution Project had been completed atehthesgstem
was back in service. Exs. In Sugp Stotmeister Pls.” Menof P. & A. In Opp’nto Mots. for
Summ. J. Ex. 70, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 188:15t9884ar.16, 2007) [ECF No. 206-5].
Grunley-Walsh'’s President, Bassem Soueiéaplained that “all of the steam system had beer
completed],] inspected, tested, punched out — punchvstified, accepted” ah“the only thing
that was left was, in fact, the installation of the water main, which was a chalege dJnited
States’ Supplemental Mem. In Supp. of Mot. Summ. JEx. 17, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 49:12
49:16 (Jan. 18, 2008) [ECF No. 122-United Sates. Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 4, Bassem
Soueidan Dep. 11:4-11:6 (Jan. 18, 2008) [ECF No. &#éhtifying himself as Grunley
Walsh’s president). Soueidan confirmed thagause the contractdrad finished and turned
over the steam systerfin]othing was contemplated that would involve a shutdown of the stee
line in connection with the work that remained on thatgr line tiein] project” Third Party
Def. United StatesCombined Reply In Supp. of Mdbr Summ. JEXx. 1, Bassem Soueidan

Dep. 49:4-49:7 (May 25, 2010) [ECF No. 106-2].
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B. The Water Line Tie-In Project Begins Late

On the night of April 22, 2004, Grunléifalsh and Cherry Hill begamork on thewater
line tie-in project. Compare Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispfi37, 38 [ECF No.
160-1],with Stotmeister PIs.’ Disputed Material Facts [ECF No.-2D@ndicating no dispute
with paragraphs 37 and 38); Day & Zimmerman'’s Mot. for J. on the Pleadings Exed®, Gr
Westphal Decl. $ [ECF No. 32-4]. Grunley-Walsh’s Superintengéfrank Stotmeister, was
supervising thevater line tiein project and had oversight responsibility for all the work and
subcontractorsCompare Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute § 3 [ECF No. 16041,
StotmeistePls.” Disputed Material Facts [ECF No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with pgtagr:

3); seealso J.A. In Supp. of Joint Motfor Summ. JEX. A, Brian Staudenmaier Dep. 14:6-14:9

(Mar. 12, 2008) [ECF No. 161-1]The Cherry Hill supervising personnel who reported to Frank

Stotmeister that night includelbseph Hudert, who w&herry Hill's Superintendent, Dayrell
Schneider, who waSherry Hill’s Utility Divisional Manager, and Gary Sims, who was the
Foreman of the Cherry Hill pipe crew performing tierline tie-in project EXxs. In Suppof
Stotmeister Pls.” Menof P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider
Dep. 13:20-13:21, 21:1-22:6, 24:2-24:21 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 20%d15&};Ex. 66,
Dayrell Schneider Dep. 70:10-70:16, 205:7-205:8 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 206-1].
Thewater line tiein project began inauspiciously. The District of Columbia Water and
Sewer Authority (“DC WASA”) crew was late performing the water main shutdbat was
necessary befotbe GrunleyWalsh and Cherry Hilkontractorsould begin cutting the main
pipefor thewater line tiein project Exs. In Suppof Stotmeister Pls.” Menof P. & A. In

Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. Ex. 28, Dexter Holmes Dep. 136:1-136:3, 148:20-152:17 (Dec. 9
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2010) [ECF No. 202-15]d. at Ex.32, Thomas Johnson Dep. 96:3-106:22 (Oct. 19, 2010) [ECF

No. 203-4];id. at Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 130:8-13{s@ating that he was notified that
the water main was shut down between 1:00 a.m. and 2:00 a.m.), 134:20-135:20 (Dec. 10,
[ECF No. 205-15]compare Statement of Material Facts Not In Disput8A[ECF No. 160-1],
with Stotmeister PIs.’ Disputed Material Facts [ECF No.-2p@ndicating no dispute with
paragraph 37) As a result, the water main wast shut off until between 1:Gm.and 2:00

a.m. on April 23, 2004, which caused concern among the contractors about whether they c

meeta 5:30 a.m. deadline to complete Water line tiein project and reopen the street to traffic.

Exs. In Suppof Stotmeister Pls.” Menmof P. & A. In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. Ex. 65,
Dayrell Schneider Dep. 130:8-131:9, 134:20-135:20, 138:4-138:16 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF N
205-15} id. at Ex. 31, Thomas Johnson Dep. 136:15-136:17 (Feb. 4, 2008) [ECF No. 203-3
(confirming that the job should have been completed around 5:30 ialnat) Ex. 66, Dayrell
Schneider Dep. 69:14-70:19, 93:5-93:22 (indicating a 5:30 a.m. deadline), 252:4-252:10 (M
12, 2010) [ECF No. 206-1]; Joint Mot. for Summ. J. of Alion Science & Technology Corp.,
Cherry Hill Construction, Inc., Day & Zimmerman Group Servs., DC Water and M&ting
& Fabricators, Inc. Othe Issuef Frank Stotmeister’'s Contributory Negligence [hereinafter

cited as “Joint Mot. for Summ. J.”] Ex. K, Gary Sims Dep. 171:4-171:18 (July 7, 2010) [ECH

No. 162-4];id. at Ex. M, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 39:14-39:16 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 162-6].

Frank Stotmeister, Dayrell Schneider and Joseph Hudert conferred, however, andoagreed t

proceed with thevater line tiein project notwithstanding the del8yExs. In Suppof

6 Dayrell Schneider testifiethat someone from GSA was present for this discussion but

was uncertain about that individual’s identity. EXs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pis.. Md>&A

In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 146:8-146:14 (Dec. 10, 2007)
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Stotmeister Pls.” Menof P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. folSumm. JEx. 32, Thomas Johnson Dep.
100:22-104:15 (Oct. 19, 2010) [ECF No. 2034d];at Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 134:20-

135:20, 138:4-138:16 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 285{explaining that “[i]t was a joint

decision, Frank, Joe, myselfiy. at Ex.66, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 69:16-70:19, 170:2-171:16

252:4-252:18 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 206-1].

C. Water Floods theSteamVault and Causesthe Steam Pipes to Hammer

Between 2:00 a.m. and 2:30 a.m., the contrattegancuttingthe water main pipso

the pipe could drainCompare Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute 38 [ECF No. 160+

1], with Stotmeister PIs.” Disputed Materi@acts [ECF No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with
paragraph 38¥xs. InSupp.of Stotmeister Pls.” Memof P. & A. In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ.
J. Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 71:5-71:12, 144:4-147:6 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 205-1
id. at Ex. 66, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 39:14-40:3 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 20&k-at;Ex. 67,
Gary Sims Depr9:2-80:15 (July 7, 2010) [ECF No. 206-1]; at Ex. 91 Greg Westphal Decl. 1

5(c) (Apr. 28, 2005) [ECF No. 207-]t8d. atEx. 25, Dexter Holmes Dep. 189:15-189(I#:c.

9, 2010) [ECF No. 2022]. The water never fully drained, however, and continued to flow from

the main pipe into the trench where the contractors were worktaymeister Pls.’ Disputed
Material Factg] 39 [ECF No. 196-2]stating that “[throughout the process of Cherry Hill's

cutting the water main, water steadily flowed out of the pigexs. InSupp.of Stotmeister PIs.’

[ECF No. 205-15]jd. at Ex. 66, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 70:10-70:16, 170:5-171:9, 252:4-
252:18 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 206-1]. In 2008, Thomas Johnson testifidtethats present
when the discussion occurred, Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P&A In Opp'nt
Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 31, Thomas Johnson Dep. 42:14-44:16 (Feb. 4, 2008) [ECF No. 20
but in 2010 he #ified thatKevin Moore, an inspector for Alion, was presedtat Ex. 32,

3-3],

Thomas Johnson Dep. 102:9-102:18 (Oct. 19, 2010) [ECF No. 203-4]. The identity of the other

individual who was present is not material to the outcontkisicasehowever.
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Mem.of P. & A.In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 171:12-172:21,

220:11-221:3 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 205-18];at Ex. 66, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 39:14-
39:16 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 206-1Asthe contractorproceeded to make additional cuts
into the mam pipe a significant amount of water continued to flow accumulaten the trench
despite the use of four electric pumpsiewater Exs. In Suppof Stotmeister Pls.” Menof P.
& A. In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 151:1-151:21, 154:3-
155:21, 171:12-172:21 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 205-15].

Within aboutthirty minutes ofthe contractorsnaking the initiakcuts to the watemain
pipe, theaccumulating wateoverflowed the trench and beganrtm into the steanvault toward
Manholes 9 and 1@here itmadecontact withthe uninsulated steam pipes. Exs. In Sugp.
Stotmeister Pls.” Menof P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider
Dep. 157:6-157:21, 173:11-173:21, 208:1-20®8c. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 205-15H. at Ex.

66, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 184:19-185:3 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 206-Ht Ex. 67, Gary

Sims Dep. 128:5-128:10, 175:20-177:10, 213:21-214:22, 224:16-224:22 (July 7, 2010) [ECF

206-2]; J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. f@umm. JEX. L, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 168:9-168:19

(Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 162-5(. at Ex.M, Dayrell Schneider Dei81:19-83:22, 85:5-86:20

(May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 162-gbtotmeister Pls.” Disputed Material Facts 72 [ECF No- 196

2] (stating thatthe water flowing from the 2@ich water main entered the steam vault” and

“contacted the steatines”). As a result, steamoseout of the manholes artdo steam pipes

! Dayrell Schneider stated that “[tjhe volume of water overwhelmed us becauserearen

the whole piece was cut out, you still had a#5inch flow, which is not normal.’Exs. In
Supp.of Stotmeister Pls.” Menmof P&A In Opp’n to Mots. forSumm. J. Ex66, Dayrell
Schneider Dep. 190:14-190:17 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 206-1].
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that werewithin 10 feet of the contractors began to visibly and audibiyme)® causing
Dayrell Schneideand Gary Simswhowerein charge of the pipe crewq fearfor ther safety®
Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material Facts 72 [ECF No-2|96tating that “the steam pipes
jumped and made a loud hammering ngisgxs. In Suppof Stotmeister Pls.” Menof P. & A.
In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 31, Thomas Johnson Dep. 47:19-48:21 (Feb. 4, 2008) [ECF
No. 203-3];id. atEx. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 157:6-157:21, 208:1-208:12 (Dec. 10, 2007)
[ECF No. 205-15]id. at Ex. 66, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 83:13-84:648%0:20, 101:3-101:21,
200:12-201:9, 208:8-209:15, 233:21-237:21, 249:19-250:5 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No.; 206-1]
at Ex. 67, Gary Sims Dep. 91:7-94:22, 213:1-214:22 (July 7, 2010) [ECF No. ;206&2]EX.

68, Gary Sims Dep. 285:12-286:18, 328:2-328:9 [ECF No. 2063t Ex. 28, Dexter Holmes
Dep. 169:4-169:19, 171:17-172:2 (Dec. 9, 2010) [ECF No. 20231&] In Supp. of Joint Mot.
for Summ. J. Ex. K, Gary Sims Dep. 91:7-94:22 (July 7, 2010) [ECF No. 16@-4}Ex. L,
Dayrell Schneider Dep. 167:21-171:4, 224:1-224:11 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No.;if62a5EXx.
M, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 298:14-300:20 (May 12. 2010) [ECF No.6le@mpare Statement
of Material Facts Not In Dispute § 40 [ECF No. 160wlith StotmeistePIs.’ Disputed Material

Facts [ECF No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with paragraph 40).

8 There is conflicting evidence about whether the hammering was a single trariden

whether itwas ongoingvhile the water main pipe was being c@ompare, e.g., Exs.In Supp.
of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P&A In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 66, Dayréh&der
Dep. 101:17-101:21 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No. ZQGagreeing that there was only one water
hammer that night)yith Ex. 67, Gary Sims Dep. 92:7-92:20 (July 7, 2010) [ECF No. 206-2]
(stating that the hammering lasted “[flor approximately the entire timelutsewere being
madeto the water main). The duration of the hammering is, however, immaterial to the eutcom
of this case.

9

Dexter Holmes also stateldat he found the hammering to be “dangerous to a degree.’
Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P&A In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 28, Dexter
Holmes Dep. 169:4-169:17, 171:17-172:2 (Dec. 9, 2010) [ECF No. 202-15].
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D. Frank StotmeisterRefuses to Shut Down the Steam System Despite Dayrell
Schneider’'s Multiple Requests

When the steam pipes hammerdyrell Schneideorderedthe contractors to get out of
the trench and asked Frank Stotmeittiteze timego shut dowrthe steansystemso the
contractorcould work safely on theater line tiein project Compare Statement of Material
Facts Not In Dispute 1 41 [ECF No. 160-4jth Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material Fafitd1
[ECF No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute that Dayrell Schneider ordered the cemadoate the
trenchbecause he was alarmpdompare Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute 43 [ECH
No. 160-1],with Stotmeister Pls.” Disputed Material Facts [ECF No.-29@ndicating no
dispute with paragraph 43); J.A. In Supp. of Joint MotStemm. JEX. L, Dayrell Schneider
Dep. 167:20-169:14, 223:9-224:19 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 1,625t Ex. M, Dayrell
Schneider Dep. 298:14-300:20 (May 12. 2010) [ECF No. 162-6]; Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeist
Pls.” Mem. of P. & A.In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. JEx. 66, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 84:3-84:6
86:4-86:20, 208:12-209:15, 250:6-250:22 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No1P06- at Ex. 67, Gary
Sims Dep. 213:17-213:20 (July 7, 2010) [ECF No. 2Q6e]at Ex. 68, Gary Sims Dep. 297:18-
298:17, 328:2-328:13, 329:3-329:11 (Mar. 2, 2011) [ECF No. 206+2jnk Stotmeister
refused however, to shut down the steagstemand instead, assuredayrell Schneider that
was safe to proceed without turning off the steam:

Frank came over and basically said that we're going to be okay, Dayelljust

dealt with mother nature We have had three inches [of rain]. Look at the
weather reports.

--14--
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This steam system is not designed to drain water anytime, anywhere. We’ve seen
these steam lines jump like that before. This is scheduléf] 88aid, I'm not an
expert with scheduled 80; but he says, It will be okay.

| said, Why don’t you just go back to the source and shut the steam line down;
and we won’t even have this conversation. And he assured me that we’re okay.
And we made the decision to go back in.

J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. L, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 170:2-170:15 (Dec. 1
2007) [ECF No. 162-5capitalization in original) Compare Statement of Material Facts Not In
Dispute 1 43 [ECF No. 160-1ith Stotmeister PIs.’ Disputed Material Facts [ECF Na6-P]
(indicating no dispute with paragraph 43); J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. L.,
Dayrell Schneider Dep. 168:4-168:8 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 162rbfed States’
Supplemental Menin Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 7, Greg Westphal Decl. 1 5(d) (Apr. 2§
2005) [ECF No. 122 (stating that “GrunleyValsh Construction Superintendent, Frank
Stotmeister, instructed Cherry Hill employees that it was safe to continue warldrthat the
steam lines . . . could withstand the water hanmg&. Rather than shuatown the steam
systemfFrank Stotmeister directed the contractors to dtengons of recycled material intioe
trench to create a temporary bemtontrol the water flowindgrom the water main pip&to the
steanvault. Compare Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute 44 [ECF No. 16G41lj,
Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material Facts 44 [ECF No-Zl96hdicating no dispute with the
facts contained in paragraph 44 but disputing the inference that Cherry Hillleahthe water

contacting the steam line after the berm was credd);In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of

P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 183:11-183:19, 238:1-

238:15 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 205-1#], at Ex.67, Gary Sims Dep. 177:11-177:15 (July 7,

10

Frank Stotmeister was refarg to the thickness of the metal pipe. Exs. In Supp. of
Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 66, Dayreh&der
Dep. 209:18-22 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 206-1].
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2010) [ECF No. 206-2]; J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. K, Gary Simms Dep.
101:12-103:4 (July 7, 2010) [ECF No. 162-#4l at Ex. M, Dayrell Schneider Def92:16-
193:13 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 162-6d; at Ex. I, Dexter Holmes Dep88:1-188:3 (Dec. 9,
2010) [ECF No. 162-2]iidicatingthat the berm wasreated after the contractors evacuated th
trench. Despite the berm, thoughater continued to accumulate in the treacldoverflow

into the steam vaultStotmeister PIs.’ Disputed Material Facts § 44 [ECF No. 196taiing

that water continued to flow into the steam vault after the berm was created)

E. Water Condensation Causes th8team Pipes in tie New Executive Office Building
to Hammer, Which Damagesthe Steam Systenand Sets Off a Fire Alarm

The New Executive Office Building (“NEOB”) is heated by a steam staliatis
connected to the 17th Street stdara via a sixinch line that branchesdm Manhole 11.
Compare Statement of Material Facts Not In Disputé3[[ECF No. 160-1]with Stotmeister
Pls.” Disputed Material Facts [ECF No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with paiagi& J.A. In

Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. N, James Plakas Dep. 20:8-21:1 (Oct. 6, 2009) [ECF |

M

162-7]. At around the same time the contractors in the trench observed steam pipesrttgammeri

a fire alarm went off ahe NEOB. J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. ¥, Letter from
Tisa B. Smith]nformation and Privacy Officer, D.C. Fire/EMS Dept., to James Jordan BViay
2010) [ECF No. 163-16] (attaching an incident log reflecting an emergency cowoiaet &.00
a.m. at the NEOB)d. at Ex. P, Thomas Johnson Dep. 356:13-356:19 (Nov. 17, 2010) [ECF
162-9]; Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” MeshP. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. folSumm. J. EX.
31, Thomas Johnson Dep. 54:16-55:7 (Feb. 4, 2008) [ECF No. 2@B-&] Ex. 32, Thomas
Johnson Dep. 155:4-156:21 (Oct. 19, 2010) [ECF No. 208s#jpare Statement of Material

Facts Notn Dispute § 46 [ECF No. 160-1Mith Stotmeister Pls.” Disputed Material Facts [ECR

—-16--

No.




No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with paragraph 46). Plumbers wodtitite NEOB
discoveredhata pressureelief valve at theNEOB steam statiowas blowingsteam and water
which wasunusualnd indicatedhatthe steam system wésl of condensationCompare
Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute § 46 [ECF No. 16@4fl},StotmeistePIs.’

Disputed Material Facts [ECF No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with paragraphA6in J
Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. Q, Darrell Jackson Dep. 22:1-28:22 (Jan. 28, 2010) [E
No. 162-10];id. atEx. R, Marion Christopher Yewell Dep. 253213, 35:21-36:9, 37:3-37:14
(Dec. 3, 2009) [ECF No. 162-11f. at Ex. T, Richard Julian Dep. 38:7-15 (Oct. 9, 2009) [ECF
No. 162-13]. The steam releaddérom the damageg@ressure<lief valve had caused heat
detectors in the steam station to activate the fire al&@ompare Statement of Material Facts
Not In Dispute 1 46 [ECF No. 160-1jth Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material Facts [ECF No.
196-2] (indicating no dispute with paragraph 46).

The plumbersat the NEOBshut off the stearmystemisolation valves t@revent steam
from entering the NEOB steam station and then proceeded taliea@ondensation out of the
pipes. Compare Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute § 47 [ECF No. 1604il],
Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material Facts [ECF No.-2p@ndicating no dispute with paragraph

47); J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. f@umm. JEx. R, Marion Christopher Yewell Dep. 32:14-

35:12, 40:3-41:3 (Dec. 3, 2009) [ECF No. 162-1Ajter thecondensation was drained from the

system, the plumbers replaced a gasket thabbad blown out of the pressuedief valveand
then the plumberattempted tslowly turn the valve back on to reestablish ste@ompare
Statement of Material Facts Not Dispute § 49 [ECF No. 160-1ith Stotmeister PIs.’

Disputed Material Facts [ECF No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with paragraph.A9)n

--17--
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Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. R, Marion Christopher Yewell Dep. 35:6-41:11 (Dec. 3,
2009) [ECF No. 162-11jd. at Ex. T, Richard Julian Dep. 42:6-42:8 (Oct. 9, 2009) [ECF No.
162-13} Exs. In Supp. of Pls.’ Partial Opp’n ténited StatesMot. for Summ. J. Ex. 14, Marion
Christopher Yewell Dep. 135:3-135:5 (Dec. 3, 2009) [ECF No. 97-14]. When the plumers
to reestablis steam, however, the steam pipes began to hammer so dramtiedalhe valve
wheel started turning on its owiCompare Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute { 49
[ECF No. 160-1]with Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material FadEJF No. 196-2] (indicating no
dispute with paragraph 49); J.A. In Supp. of Joint MotStemm. JEX. R, Marion Christopher
Yewell Dep. 42:6-44:19, 71:5-72:21 (Dec. 3, 2009) [ECF No. 1624tl1at Ex. T, Richard
Julian Dep. 42:9-45:14, 47:15-47:@0ct. 9, 2009) [ECF No. 162-13]Frightenedoy what was
happening at thBIEOB steam station, the plumbers quickly left the buildiggs. In Supp. of
Pls.” Partial Opp’n tdJnites StatesMot. for Summ. J. Ex. 14, Marion Christopher Yewell Dep
135:3-135:18 (Dec. 3, 2009) [ECF No. 97-13A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. Q,
Darrell Jackson Dep. 28:13-28:22 (Jan. 28, 2010) [ECF No. 162€1@} Ex. T, Richard Julian
Dep. 47:19-47:21 (Oct. 9, 2009) [ECF No. 162-13].
F. Frank Stotmeister Closesthe FeederValve In Manhole 11

On the street, the plumbers ran into Thomas Johnson, who was a government contractor
employed by AlionScience and Technology Corporati¢Alion”) . Def./Cross Defs
Submission In Resp. to Order of April 12, 2011 1 [ECF No. 120-1]; Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister
Pls.” Mem. of P. & A.In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 40, Larry Melton Dep. 37:11-38:5

(Mar. 9, 2010) [ECF No. 204-7PIs.’ Partial Opp’n to United StateMot. for Summ. J. Ex. 15,
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James D. Rosenberger Dep. 49:19-49:21, 156:4-156:7 (Dec. 1, 2009) [ECF No. 8Hiek5}:
had a contract with the GSA’s White House ProgeQfficeto perform construction
management servicésr certain designategrojects pursuant to work orders issued under the
contract Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to MotsStanm. J. Ex.
2, Alion Contract IB1IC1 (ALI 00017-20) [ECF No. 201]2Def./Cross Def.’s Submission In
Resp. to Order of April 12, 2011 1 [ECF No. 120-1]. Thomas Johnson was on 17th Street t
night of April 23, 2004pecause he was supervisegvaterfountain construction projeet the
NEOB for the White House Service Centd?ls.’ Partial Opp’n tdnited StatesMot. for

Summ. J. Ex. 17, Thomas Johnson Dep. 49:4-49:12 (Oct. 19, [HB)N0.97-17]} United
States’ Combined Reply In Supp. of Mot. for Sumnixl.6, Thomas Johnson Dep. 433:1-
433:21 (Nov. 17, 2010) [ECF No. 106-2]. Thomas Johnson also had Peepa Managefor
the 17thStreet Steam Distribution ProjedExs. In Supp. of Stotmeister PIs.” Mem. of P. &IA.
Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 40, Larry Melton Dep. 37:11-38:5, 39:9-40:5 (Mar. 9, 2010
[ECF No. 204-7]Third Party Defs Combined Reply In Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 1,
Bassem Soueidan Dep. 31:9-31:15 (May 25, 2010) [ECF No. 1Q6:R2¢d States’
Supplemental Mem. In Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 2, Greg Westphal Dep. 379:3-379:9

13, 2010) [ECF No. 122-1].

11 The indefinite-delivery-indefinite-quantity contract waseuted by Albn’s predecessor,

ANADAC, Inc., and the GSA. Def./Cross Def.’s Submission In Resp. to Order of April 12,
2011 Ex. 1 [ECF No. 120-1].
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Ore of theplumberg? told Thomas Johnson about the hammering at the NEOB steam
stationandaskedo havethe steam to th&lEOB shut off in the street so the plumbers could
changea valve. Compare Statement of Material Facts Not ispute 1 50 [ECF No. 160-1],
with Stotmeister PIs.’ Disputed Material Facts [ECF No.-2p@ndicating no dispute with
paragraph 50); Pls.” Partial Opp’n to United States’ Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 15, James D.
Rosenberger Dep. 49:19-50:9, 156:4-157:17;2662:14 (Dec. 1, 2009) [ECF No. 97-15]A.
In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. T, Richard B. Julian Dep. 54:13-55:2 (Oct. 9, 2009)
[ECF No. 162-13]id. at Ex. O, Thomas Johnson Dep. 87810022 (Mar. 12, 2007) [ECF No.
162-8]; Exs. In Supp. of Stmeister Pls.” Memof P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. folSumm. JEX.

30, Thomas Johnson Dep. 20:7-20:20, (Mar. 12, 2007) [ECF No. 203-2]. Thomas Johnson

relayed the plumbers’ requestFrank Stotmeisteand asked Stotmeister shut the stearoff. '3

12

but that detail is immaterial and there is no dispute that one of the plumbeodidare
Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute § 50 [ECF No.1]g8tating thalames
Rosenberger told Thomas Johnson about the hammeantptotmeister Pls.’ Disputed
Material Facts [ECF No. 198] (indicating no dispute with paragraph 5@)th Pls.” Partial

Opp’n to United States’ Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 15, James D. Rosenberger Dep. 161:10-161;
162:1-162:6 (Dec. 1, 2009) [ECF No. 97-15] (stating that he could not recall whether he told

Thomas Johnson about the hammering).

13

the steam off@Manhole 7 or Manhole 11Compare J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J.
Ex. P, Thomas Johnson Dep. 120:4-121:1 (Feb. 4, 2008) [ECF No. 162-9] (stating “I just as
if it could be shut down at manhole 7With Stotmeister Pls.” Disputed Material Fadt 51 [ECF
No. 196-2] (disputing paragraph 51 of the defendants’ Statement of Material Faats Not |
Dispute and stating that “Tom Johnson asked Frank Stotmeister to shut off thensiéaniole
11"). The dispute arises from conflicts between Thomas Johnson’s deposition testimdony
Bassem Soueidan’s deposition testimony. Thomas Johnson asserts that he asked Frank
Stotmeister whether it was possible to turn the steam off at Manhole 7. J.A. In Suppt of Joi

Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. P, Thomas Johnson Dep. 121:8-123:3 (Feb. 4, 2008) [ECF No.itl62-9];

at Ex. O, Thomas Johnson Dep. 88:6-88:22 (Mar. 12, 2007) [ECF No. 162-8] (stating “yes,
walk up to Frank and ask him if he could shut down the steam in manhole numbBagsgm
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Compare Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute 1 51, 52 [ECF No. 16G1h],
Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material Facts [ECF No.-2p@ndicating no dispute with
paragraphk 51 and 5@ J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. T, Richard B. Julian Dep.
54:13-55:2 (Oct. 9, 2009) [ECF No. 162-1R),; at Ex. O, Thomas Johnson Dep. 87:10-88:22
(Mar. 12, 2007) [ECF No. 162-8(d. at Ex. P, Thomas Johnson Dep. 95:1-95:9 (Feb. 4, 2008

[ECF No. 162-9]. A couple of hours latérank Stotmeistetold Thomas Johnson that the

steam to the NEOBad been shut off at Manhole 11. EXxs. In Supp. of Stotmeister PIs.’ dlem.

P. & A.In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 31, Thomas Johnson Dep. 142:18-144:14 (Feb.

2008) [ECF No. 203-3].

Souiedan, on the other hand, stated during depositions that Thomas Johnson directed Frar
Stotmeister to turn the steam off at Manhole 11. Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister é&is. ofP. &
A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 71, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 101:4-101:6 (Jan. 18, 20
[ECF No. 206-6] (stating that Johnson “asked Frank to see what they can do and asked hin
shut the- the shut-off valve at Manhole 11”). Bassem Soueldtat concededuring a
deposition, however, that he could not recall Thomas Johnson’s specific words and implied
he inferred that Thomas Johnson meant Manhole 11 because Johnson “knew full well” that
“the only place to shut the steam off”

Specific words | probably would not remember. But if you are asking me if he
said, Frank, go inside Manhole 11 and turn the steam off, |1 don’t think I'm in a
position to say that these were his exact words. But he did say, | asked Frank to
shut the steam off knowing full well that the only place to shustbam off is in

fact inside Manhole 11.

Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. &IA Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 72,
Bassem Soueidan Dep. 146:15-146:22 (Mar. 27, 2008) [ECF No. 2Qdtirhately, though,
this disputed fact is immaterial tbe outcome, as discussedta.

The parties also dispute whether Thomas Johnson directed Frank Stotmeistehi® turt
steam off or simply asked whether it was possible to do so. Statement of Madets&aNot In
Dispute n.3 [ECF No. 160-1]. For the purpose of resolving the pending motion, however, th
defendants conceded “that Johnson told Stotmeister to turn the steandoff.”
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G. Frank Stotmeister Attempts toTurn On the SteamLine Valve in Manhole 11,
Which Causesa Water Hammer and Massive SteankExplosion

By around 6:30 a.m., the Cherry Hill crew had finishedwheer line tiein projectand
was cleaning up the sitd.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. L, Dayrell Schneider De

174:19-175:17, 186:1-187:20 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 162354t Ex. K, Gary Sims Dep.

301:7-302:2 (Mar. 2, 2011) [ECF No. 162-EKs. In Supp. of Stotmeister PIs.” Mem. of P. & Al

In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 28exter Holmes Depl89:11-189:14, 195:11-195:19

(Dec. 9, 2010) [ECF No. 202-15%totmeister Pls.” Disputed Material Facts 57 [ECF No- 196

2] (arguing that thevater line tiein was not completed until between 6:30 a.m. and 7 a.m. and

citing Dexter Holmes’ deposition testimony stating thhey had the T and mechanical pieces i
place around 6:30 a.m., | think”shortly thereafterThomas Johnson alerted Frank Stotmeiste
that the GSA plumbers wed®ne fixing the alve in the NEOB steam statiamd asked
Stotmeister to turn the steam back'6rCompare Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute
59 [ECF No. 160-1]with Stotmeister Pls.” Disputed Material Facts [ECF No.-2p@ndicating

no dispute with paragraph b9

p.

5

At approximately 8:48 a.m., Frank Stotmeister descended the ladder into Manhole 11 and

Joseph Hudert was halfway down the ladder holding a flashlgripare Statement of
Material Facts Not In Dispute 1 62 [ECF No. 160vlith Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material

Facts [ECF No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with paragraph B&nk Stotmeister

14 For the purpose of resolving the pending motion the defendants do not dispute “that

Johnson told Stotmeister to tuire steam on.” Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute { &
n.4 [ECF No. 160-1].

-2

50




subsequently “began to open the isolation valve in Manhole 11” to turn the steam Back on.
Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material Fafits72, 73 [ECF No. 196-2] (paragraph 72 contains the
guoted language and both paragraphs support the fact that Frank Stotmeister opsokditime i
valve to turn the steam back oms a result, a “steastondensate water hammexXploded
from the steam line in a “massive ergpti of steam that fatally injureBrankStotmeister and
Joseph HudertStotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material FactgZ[[ECF No. 196-2].
DISCUSSION

Day & Zimmerman and M&M Welding contend that the plaintiffs cannot prevéihein

claimsfor compensatgrdamages arising from Frank Stotmeister’s deattause Stotmeister

was contributorily negligertty failing to act with reasonable care for his own safety, knowingl

<

putting himself in a dangerous situation, &aiting to take reasonable steps to protentself
from harm. Mem. ofP. & A. In Supp. of Joint Motfor Summ. J. 1-15 [ECF No. 160-2pside
from the contention that there are material facts in dispute, the plaiptifisipal counter
argument is thatrankStotmeistes actions opening and clositige stearrline valve in
Manhole 1lwere reasonable because he diascted to do so by Thomas Johnson, wigo
plaintiffs assertvas the government’s representative. Pls.” Men®.@& A. In Opp’n To Defs.’

Joint Mot.for Summ. J. 826 [ECF No. 196].

15 The plaintiffs equivocate about whether Frank Stotmeister turned the stearnffalve

on, stating that “no direct evidence has been presented that he did . . . .” Pls. Mem. of P&A In
Opp’n to Defs.’ Joint Mot. for Summ. J. 6 [ECF No. 196]. The undisputed circumstantial
evidence, however, reflects that Fkaétotmeister wathe only person who was observed in
Manhole 11 that morning (Joseph Hudert was only ever observed standing on the ladder
descending into the manhole). Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to
Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 50, Kevin Moore Dep. 118:1-118:13 (Jan. 11, 2011) [ECF No. 204-17];
United States’ Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 1, EdvReyes Dep. 104:605:3, 105:16-105:22, 107:14-
107:21, 109:3-109:16 (Jan. 15, 2008) [ECF No. 85-1].
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l.

“The District of Columbia is one of the few jadictions in which the claimaist’
contributory negligence can act as a complete defense to the defetidaility for
negligencé. Jarrett v. Woodward Bros., Inc., 751 A.2d 972, 985 (D.C. 2000). “To establish
contributory negligence, the party asserting the defense must prove by a prapoadéthe
evidence that the opposing pagtyiegligence was a substantial factor in causing his or her
injury, and that the injury or damage was eitherraafiresult or a reasonably probable
consequence of the negligent act or omis8idurphy v. Kaiser Found. Health Plan of Mid-
Atlantic States, Inc., 698 A.2d 459, 465 (D.C. 1997). Contributory negligaaceonduct
‘which falls below the standard to which a plaintiff should conform for his own proteetrah’
contributes to the plaintiff's injur{y Scogginsv. Jude, 419 A.2d 999, 1004 (D.C. 1980) (quoting
Restatement (Second) of Torts 8 496E, Comment a (19638) the failure to act with the
prudence demanded of an ordinary reasonable person under likest@oces."Stager v.
Schneider, 494 A.2d 1307, 1311 (D.C. 1985). “[T]he defense of contributory negligence
requires a determination of what the plaintiff should have known and actednuppenexercise
of reasonable care for his own safétylorrison v. MacNamara, 407 A.2d 555, 566 (D.C. 1979),
and ‘generally involves inadvertence or failure to observe or Bet;fisv. Plummer, 190 A.2d
98, 100 (D.C. 1963).

Unlike the assumption-of-risk doctrine, which operates only when the plaiatifally
knows the full scope and magnitude of a danger but voluntarily exposes himself to it,
contributory negligence appliesthen a party knows or by the exercise of ordinary saweld

have known a particular fact or circumstance.? Sager, 494 A.2dat1311 (quotingSerra
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Pacific Power Co. v. Anderson, 358 P.2d 892, 894 (Nev. 196{¢mphasis in original)The
contributory negligence framewodtsoapplies in case®f unreasonable risk takin@jstrict of
Columbia v. Mitchell, 533 A.2d 629, 639 (D.C. 1987), involviaflegations that a plaintiff
voluntarily but unreasonably accepted a known riskyhich caséthe focus . . . is on the
reasonableness of the plaintiff's conduct rather than the voluntariness Bhiitlips v. Fujitec
America, Inc., 3 A.3d 324, 328 (D.C. 2010).

“Whether a plaintiff is contributorily negligent is usually a question for ding’ gnd “it
is the rare case with evidence so clear and unambiguous that contributorgnegigould be
found as a matter of law.Paraskevaides v. Four Seasons Washington, 292 F.3d 886, 893 (D.C.
Cir. 2002) (internal quotation marks omitted). That fedaid, “[sJome fact patterns allow [the
court] to take the question away from the jurfPhillips, 3 A.3dat 29 n.16. Accordingly, when
“reasonable persons, after viewing the facts in the light most favorable to theonogmparty,
can draw but onenference from those facts, and wherat one inference points ‘unerringly’ to
the conclusion that the plaintiff failed to act reasonably under the circumstétheecourt] may
find that [the plaintiff] was contributorily negligent as a matter of lavd.” (quotingStarks v.
North East Ins. Co., 408 A.2d 980, 982 (D.C.1979)). The burden of proving contributory
negligenceby a preponderance of the evidence, however, rests with the deferiinssCas.
& Sur. Co. v. Carter, 549 A.2d 1117, 1119 (D.C. 198®oyner v. Loftus, 694 A.2d 69, 71 (D.C.

1997).
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Theundisputed evidence reveals that¢ghare three instances when Frank Stotmeister’

Uy

own negligence contributed to his injury and death. Ridsgn the water from the cut water
main pipe began to overflow the trench and flood the steam vautbhaniolesFrank
Stotmeisteshould have exercised his authority as the superintendentwétieline tiein
projectto (A) halt the projecentirely, (B) notify officials at GSA HOTD abouhe abnormal
situation involving the steam systeand/or (G shut down the steam system at the Point of

Connection. Instead, Frank Stotmeister acted unreasonafditibg to notify GSA HOTD

—

officials that the stearmystem was being exposed to an unusual amount of water from the cu
watermain pipe direcing the contractors toontinueworking in the trench despite all signs that
the abnormatircumstances were creating a hazard,faitithg to shut down the steam system to
eliminate the risk o& steam leak oexplosion posed by tHeammering steam pipe.

The plaintiffs do not dispute that, as Grunley-Walsh’s superinteniéemtk Stotmeister
was responsible fall the construction activiésand subcontractors on site the morning of the
steam explosianExs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for
Summ. J. Ex. 71, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 15:20-16:6 (Jan. 18 [2QBBIN0.206-6] Etating
that Frank Stotmeisterigsponsibilities as superintendent were to “[b]asically oversee all of the
construction activities, coordinate the subcontractors, coordinate with the @lgenéttain
extent, and make sure that scheduled milestones are met” and he was “basicalht thari for
Grunley-Walsh on a datg-day basis, or in this case a nigbtnight basis since the job was
done at night}; accord J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. A, Brian Staudenmaier Dep.

14:4-14:9 (Mar. 12, 2008) [ECF No. 18] {stating tlathe wasFrank Stotmeister's immediate
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supervisor but that Stotmeistérad the dayto-day responsibility, oversight of the job and the
contractors on the site”)it alsois undisputedhat FrankStotmeister wasesponsible for safety
at the job site andias“authorized to immediately stop work at the jgite ifany. . . safety
hazard is observed . . . .” United States’ Supplemental Mem. In Supp. dbMeumm. J. Ex.
10, Grunley-Walsh Joint Venture, Price Proposal, Section 2.H Safety Progd@tE&ZF No.
122-1]. Frank Stotmeister also was contractually responsible for administedimgircing
Grunley-Walsh’s Safety and Accident Prevention Plan, including “[a] thoroughaantihuing
analysis of potential hazardsltl. at42. Moreover, in thevent of an emergenc§runley-
Walsh’s contract authorized Frank Stotmeister to shut dowertiresteam system at thioint
of Connectiorlocated inthe vault at the intersection of 17th Street and New York Avéhue.
Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister PI8em.of P. & A. In Opp’nto Mots. forSumm. JEx. 25,
Expert Witness Report of Suzanne H. Harness 8 (Apr. 29, 2010) [ECF No. pQMhitéd

States’ Supplemental Mem. In Supp. of Mot. Summ. J. Ex. 11, Robert Hixon Dep. 215:9-

215:19 (Mar. 1, 2011) [ECF No. 122-1]; United States’ Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 2, Greg Westj

Dep. 309:18-310:4 (March 11, 2010) [ECF No. 85-1].
The plaintiffs concede that theater flooding the steam vault was “abnormal and

problematic’*’ Stotmeister Pls.Disputed Material Facts § 39 [ECF No. 196-2]. Frank

16 See discussiorinfra Part |1l describing this authority.

1 After the contractors performing the water lineitigoroject began cutting the water-
main pipe it became apparent that the pipe never fully drained and was continlomgabd
rate that subcontractor Dayrell Schneider found to be “alarming” and “overwheélni®rg. In
Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 66, Dayrell
Schneider Dep. 50:1-50:4; 188:4-188:5 (May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 2G&dd;d Stotmeister
Pls.’ Disputed Material Facts { 39 [ECF No. IB§stating that “[a]ccording to . . . Dayrell
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Stotmeister knew or should have knotliat thehammering in the steam pipe wasingcaused
by this abnormal flooding.Frank Stotmeistetnewthat the watefrom thewatermain pipewas

overflowing the trench and flooding the steam tunnel toward Manhdbed#fuset was visible

from where he stood at the trench. Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. m Opp’

to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 157:6-157:21 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No.

205-15} J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. K, Gary Sims Dep. 100:16-100:22 (July

2010) [ECF No. 162-4] (stating that he did not inform anyone that the berm was leakingbecaus

“Mr. Frank . . . was standing right over top of the hole”). Steam also could be segrousof
the manholes, Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & ®pp’'nto Mots. for Summ.

J. Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 208:1-208:12 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 205-1bjaared
Schneidetestified that Frank Stotmeister said that water was running down the tunnel into
Manhole 10jd. at Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 157:11-157:13 (“And you have Joe and Fr
saying, [w]e’re getting water in 10 coming down the tunnel."he $team pipe began
hammeringpnly after the water from the waterainpipe overflowedhe trench and made

contact with the steam pip@adicatingthat the hammering was being caused by the overflowir

water Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. EX.

65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 208:1-208:12 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 20%d1&1;Ex. 66,

Dayrell Schneider Dep. 83:13-84:6, 89:4-89:20, 101:3-101:21, 200:12-201:9, 233:21-237:2

(May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 206-1id. at Ex 67, Gary Sims Dep. 91:7-94:22 (July 7, 2010) [ECF

No. 206-2];id. at Ex. 68, Gary Sims Dep. 285:12-286:18, 328:2-328:%t Ex. 28, Dexter

Holmes Dep. 169:4-169:17, 171:17-172:2 (Dec. 9, 2010) [ECF No. 202-15]; J.A. In Supp. o

Schneider . . . the amount of water pouring out of the water main was unusual, unacceptab
even alarming”).
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Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. K, Gary Sims Dep. 91:7-94:22 (July 7, 2010) [ECF No. 1&R-4];
at Ex. L, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 167:21-171:4, 224:1-224:11 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 162
id. at Ex. M, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 298:14-300:20 (May 12. 2010) [ECF No. 1é8rdjare
Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute 1 40 [ECF No. 1604th, Stotmeister PIs.’
Disputed Material Facts [ECF No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with paragrapfihe).
plaintiffs concede that “[t]he water flowing from the-R@h water main entered the steam vault
and “contacted the steam lines[,]” which “caused condensate to form rapidlyamdtimihe
steam in the steam lines” and “[w]hen that happened, ¢élaenspipes jumped and made a loud
hammering noise.” Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material Facts § 72 [ECF No. 196-2]

Frank Stotmeister also knew or should have known that the hammering steam pipe
danger.Whenthe steam pipe started hammeriDgyrell Schneide(1) ordered the
subcontractors to evacuate the trerf2htold Frank Stotmeister théie feltthe situation was

hazardous:® and(3) asked Stotmeister three timtesshut down the steam systéhputting

18 Indeed, one of the plaintiffs’ expert withesses stated that he “understoodrjthectors]

were pretty scared.” Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P.1& @pp’nto Mots. for

Summ. J. Ex. 56, Roland O’Brien-Bills Dep. 358:14-358:15 (June 3, 2011) [ECF No. 205-6].

And the only logical interference to be drawn from Frank Stotmeisteiisaas=s that the steam
pipe had survived prior rain water, he had seen the steam pipes hammer on other paoassion
the steam pipes were schedule-8@hichwas a reference to the thickness of the pigess,

supra n. 10-- is that he knew that the hazard at issue was a pipe leak or explosion.

The plaintiffs argue that this cumulative evidence “creates an inference that Mr.
Stotmeister did not fully appred¢ethe nature of or risks associated with water hammer.” Pls,
Mem. of P&A In Opp’n to Defs.’” Joint Mot. for Summ. J. 23 [ECF No. 196]. Frank
Stotmeister'seference to the thickness of the pipe belies the plaintiffs’ theory, thoughhtin lig
of all the circumstances then occurring, the only ratiog@on to mention the thickness of the
pipe would have been to support Frank Stotmeister’s belief that, because of its thittk@es
pipe would not crack or burst. Absent concerns about the risk of cracking or bursting, whic
would lead to a steam escape or explosion, there simply is no other logicalcelayae
associated with the thickness of the pipe in this Court’s view.
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Stotmeister on noticthat Schneider believed tlsguation was dangerod8.Furthermoreafter
Dayrell Schneider askdérank Stotmeisteio shut down the steam systeBtptmeisterdered
the contractors to create a beont of backfill toprevent water fronflowing into the steam
tunnel?* Frank Stotmeister's actions in this regard lemthelogical inference that Stotmeister

knew there was a correlation between the witdeding the steam tunneind the hammering

19 J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. L, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 167:20-169:14,

223:9-224:19 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 16248];at Ex. M, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 298:14-
300:20 (May 12. 2010) [ECF No. 162-6]; Exs. In SupSmitmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In
Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 238:17-238:21 (Dec. 10, 2007
[ECF No. 205-15]jd. at Ex. 66, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 84:3-84:6, 86:4-86:20, 208:12-209:1
(May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 206-1i. at Ex. 67, Gary Sims Dep. 213:17-213:20 (July 7, 2010)
[ECF No. 206-2]jd. at Ex.68, Gary Sims Dep. 297:18-298:17, 328:2-328:13, 329:3-329:11
(Mar. 2, 2011) [ECF No. 206-3tpmpare Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute § 43 [EC
No. 160-1],with Stotmeister Pls.” Disputed Material Facts [ECF No.-29@ndicating no
dispute with paragraph 43).

20 Dayrell Schneider testified that he believed the hammering was dangerous

Q | -- 1 -- | take it you believed that was dangerous?

A | -- you know,with all my experience, yes.

Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. EX. 66,
Dayrell Schneider Dep. 208:21-209:2 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. R0&dry Sims also testified
that he was personally afraid when the pipes started hammering. EXxs. In Suppneistot
Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 68, Gary Sims Dep. 328:2-328:9
[ECF No. 206-3].

21 Compare Statement of Material Facts Not In Dispute 7 44 [ECF No. 16@l,

Stotmeister PIsDisputed Material Facts 44 [ECF No. 196-2] (indicating no dispute with the

fact that “Sostmeister directed that backfill material be placed into the excatratich to create
a berm to stop the water from exiting the excavation trenéxy; In Suppof Stotmeister Pls.’
Mem.of P. & A.In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 65, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 176:1-176:1(
(Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 205-15] (“And then Frank had us put up a whole load of RC6 to d
on the top of the steam line to dump a whole |oeithére and actually make a temporary dam t
eliminate some of the water,’.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. K, Gary Sims Dep
101:12-103:4 (July 7, 2010) [ECF No. 162-4].
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that was occurringh the steam pipe andhe recognized that the situation was problematic;
otherwise, there would have been no reason to take the precaution of building a berm.
Theplaintiffs’ own expert witnesgxplainedthatonce thevater hammeringccurred
there was “a high degree of ris#tiat warrante@valuation by “thg GSA] HOTD people, who
are experts in their system” to determine why the water hammer was occurritigyjuad is the
damage as a consequence of all this water gettirgn the steam tunnels].]JUnited States’
Supplemental Mem. In Supp. of Médr Summ. J. Ex. 11, Robert Hixon Dep. 185:5-20 (Mar. ]
2011) [ECF No. 122-1]. Anothef the plaintiffs’expert withessesharacterized the water
hammering in the steam pipe as “a dangerous condition,” Exs. In Supjptofeister PIs.’
Mem.of P. & A.In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 58, Roland O’Brien-Bills Report 2 (Jan.
20, 2011) [ECF No. 205-8], and found that “[t]he development of the water hammer in the h
pressure steam piping along 17th Street NW should barstituted an emergencyl. at 79.
Significantly, thatsameexpert withesslso concludethat“[tlhe reasonable standard of care . .
was to secure the large steatop valve in the steamrtoel [at] New York Avenue and 17th

Street NWwhen water started to enter the steam tunnel crawl-space and manholes],]” *?id. at 79

22 Although this findingstated that Day &immerman employees should have shut the

steam down at the Point of Connection, there is no evidence that anyone from Day &
Zimmerman was at the work site at the time the water lir@ fieoject was taking place and
there is no evidence that Frank Stetster or any other contractor attempted to contact anyon
Day & Zimmerman to alert them about the situation. Regardless, the relevant point is that i
steam system had been shut down at the Point of Connection at the time the water began
floodingthe steam tunnel, the explosion that killed Frank Stotmeistdoseph Hudemtight
nothave happenedAnd the evidence in the record reveals that, at the timeatex line tiein
project was taking place, Frank Stotmeister was the individual withtbetknowledge of the
situation and the contraal authority to shut down the steam system at the Point of Connecti
FrankStotmeister nonetheless made the decision to proceed with the waterilingrtigct
without shutting down the steam systeespite Dayrell Schneider’s request that the steam be
off to ensure the contractors’ safety.
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(emphasis added)The plaintiffs’ expert also found thdtlhe simple decision of closing the
steamstop|[valve] at the steam tinel atNew York Avenue and 17t8treet NW[the Point of
Connection] at around 2:30-AM when the hammer first occurred would have prevented the
steamcondensate water hammer that occurred af#&2o 8:51-AM.” 1d. at 79 In other
words,given that an emergency was occurridsrank Stotmeister hagxercised his authority
to shut the steam down at the Point of Connection when Dayrell Schneider thrice asked hin
do so the steam explosion that killed Stotmeigtel Joseph Hudert might neve occurred.
The same expemvho found thathe tragedy nght have been avoided Bhutting the
steam system down at the Point of Connection when water began flooding the stedsralsmne
concluded that “[f]looding from the water main(s) into the steam tunnel crand syac
manholes and on the steam pgaeised the steasondensate water hammeid. at 80. The
expertfurtherstatedduring a depositiothat theconditions during thevater line tiein project
were ‘abnormdl andno particular training would be needed to understandfttieg steanvault

and manholewerebeing floodedvith watertheremightbe condensate forming in the steam

1 to

line. Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 57,

Roland O’Brien-Bills Dep. 848:4-849:14 (June 8, 2011) [ECF No. 205-7] (stating “l don’t think

you need particular training to understand the physics, especially whersttjsdiinted out”).
Consistent wh the experts testimony,Dayrell Schneider statetliring a depositiothat, with
respect to the water flowing intodtsteam tunnel, he viewed the situation to be “not normal.”
Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. &IA Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 65,

Dayrell Schneider Dep. 173:11-173:21 (Dec. 10, 2007) [ECF No. 205-15].
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As the superintendent of thaterline tie-in projectFrank Stotmeistewas the
responsible contractan sitewho had the authority to hahe project, call GSA HOTD
personnel to advise them about the abnormal flooding isté@n systerand confirm whether
it was safe to proceed with the projemt shut down the steam system at the Point of Connect
when the steam pipasartechammering and Dayrell Schneider askéu three times talo so?®
FrankStotmeister could see that the steaanmel was being flooded by the water overflowing
the trench and was on notice that the subcontractors considered the situation to toeislaige
exercising his authority to shdown the steam systean halt the worlat that point in time,
Frank Stotmeister could hae#iminatedtherisk of danger posed by the steam pipe and
prevented the tragic explositgmat ultimately killed him Instead, Franktotmeistedirected the

contractors to dump backfill into the trench and continue workiegpiteall indications that a

dangerous situation had evolved, and without ever notifying officials at GSA HOTD about the

waterflooding the steamtunnel. As a consequence, the water continued to overflow the tren
flood the steantunnel, and cause condensation to build insteampipe which ultimately led to
the waterhammer blast that exploded from the drip leg in ManholaridLkilledFrank
Stotmeisteland Joseph Hudert. Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n

Mots. forSumm. J. Ex57, Roland O’Brien-Bills Dep. 812:1-812:20 (June 8, 2011) [ECF No.

23 From the Court’s vantage point, Dayrell Schneider modeled the behavior of a reasor

person under the circumstances. Although he was not a steam spdwatiensibly recognized
that an unusual and potentially dangerous situation was occurring in light of the \oblwaiker
flooding the trench and steam tunnel, the steam rising from the manholes, and the hgumimer
the steam pipe. He immediately lealtthe subcontractors’ work on tater line tiein project
and ordered the subcontractors to evacuate the trench to ensure their safety. He fiheunitsou
the superintendent, expressed his concern about the hazard posed by the hammenmgestea
andrequested that the steam system be shut down to eliminate the risk of danger to the
subcontractorsSee factual sources citeslpra Parts C, D.
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205-7](stating thakexcess condensation was forming in the steam pipes as a result of the ws
overflowingfrom themain} id. at Ex. 58, Roland O’BrieBills Report54 (Jan. 20, 2011ECF
No. 205-8](stating thashock waves from the mixing of condensation and steam in the pipe
blew the drip leg).Under the circumstanceStotmeister’s failuréo halt the water line tien
project, shut down the steam system, or contact GSA HOTD to confirm the safetylobdesl
steamsystemwasboth unreasonable and imprudéht.

.

The second instance when Frank Stotmeister’s negligence contributed to the ¢asise
injury and death occurred when Stotmeister sifiuthe steamline valvein Manhole 11 at the
behest of Thomas Johnson and the plumbvbis wereattempting to repair damage to the NEOE
steam statiocaused by the steasystemwater hammering Whenrequestedo shut off the
steam, Frank Stotmeister did soreasonalylby (1) entering Manhole 11 without authoriéynd
(2) operating thesteamline valve locatedn Manhole 11 without authority

Frank Stotmeistenad no authorityo enter Manhole 11 because it was restricted federe

property that was outside the scope of work fontaeer line tiein project. United States’ Mot.

24 Particularly if, as the plaintiffs argue, Frank Stotmeister “was not a steaent’tand

ater

A

“evidently he knew nothing about water hammer and how dangerous it is.” Pls.” Mem. of P&A

In Opp’n to Defs.” Joint Mot. for Summ. J. 13 [ECF No. 1@6ternal quotation marks omitted)
Once Dayrell Schneider notified Frank Stotmeister that he viewed the steahapipering to
be a danger, the reasonable course of action would have been for Stotmeister tovdoetfien

a danger actually existedas he was contractually required to sk supra Part 1l at 27
(describing the contractual requirement to thoroughiglyze potential hazardsrather than
relying on his own inexpert opinion. Confirmation about the safety of the steam pipe ozild
been quickly accomplished by calling officials at GSA HOTD or even Grinalgh’s own
subcontractor, M&M Welding, wbh Bassem Soueidan characterized as “a steam specialist.
J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. C, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 124:1-124:3 (Jan. 1
2008) [ECF No. 161-3].
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for Summ. J., Supplemental Decl. of Greg Westphal 1 4 [ECF Nol[l(3ating that “[e]ntry
into the Steam Distribution Complex (‘SDC’) is highly restricted”); United StiMes. for
Summ. J. Ex. 2, Greg Westphal Dep. 1128:2-1128:8 (June 1, 2010) [ECF No. 85-1] (“Nobo
was authorized to go into that manhole at any time. There was no work being perforinagd in
manhole. They had no authoritythey had no business being in that manholeegardless);
id. at 1128:9-1128:21 (“Nobody had permission to go down in the manhole. There was no
being performed.”); Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. &Qpp’nto Mots. for
Summ. J. Ex. 70, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 188:15-188:19 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No(206-5]
can tell you that, prior to the date of the incident, all contract work related toedn® Sine
Replacement Project, specifically as it relates to that portion of the workonggetedand
back on servic&); United States’ Mottor Summ. J. Ex. 3, Dayrell Schneider Dep. 226:6-227:]
(May 12, 2010) [ECF No. 85-1] (affirming that there was no work involving Manhole 11 and
there was no reason for the contractors to be in that manhole the morning of Aprihi23); U
States’ Supplemental Mem. In Supp. of Mot. Summ. J. Ex. 5, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 167:1
167:16 (Mar. 27, 2008) [ECF No. 122-1After we turned the steam over two to three weeks
prior to the date . . . we had no business touching the stesteni).

Moreover, @en assuming for the sake of argument that Frank Stotmeiasauthorized
to enter Manhole 11, it is undisputed that he was never authorized to manipulate thensteam

valve located in that manhgleegardless of whether he wasedted to do so by the government

J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. B, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 151:16-152:12 (Mar.

2007) [ECF No. 16T (stating thatwith respect to GrunleWalsh,“[w]e were not allowed to

turn a valve on or off . . . bgontract); United States’ Combined Reply In Supp. of Mot. for
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Summ. JEx.7, Mark Middleton Dep. 181:8-182:20 (Apr. 12, 2010) [ECF No. 20ggreeing
that when the steam system needed to be shut off or on that it was to be done by GSA and
else) id. at Ex. 6, Thomas Johnson Dep. 435:7-435:13 (Nov. 17, 2010) [ECF N@] (§xéting
that contractors “cannot operate the steam valve$s); Mem.of P. & A. In Opp’n To De$.’
Joint Mot.for Summ. J. 2IECF No. 196] (noting Bassem Soueidat@stimony that Grunley
Walsh does not operate systems for owners). Indeed, Frank StotmeisterBalssss)
Soueidarf> confirmedthat“with or without direction from the government, we as a contractor
don’t typically handle life systemsUnited StatesCombined Reply In Supp. of Mdor Summ.
J. Ex. 1, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 71:3-71:5 (May 25, 2010) [ECF N@] 186phasis added),
and ‘{w]e were not athorized . . . to do either, dergize or energize the steam linging the
feeder and shut-off valves along the steam loheat 52:5-6. Accord Exs. In Supp. of
Stotmeister Pls.” Menof P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. folSumm. J. Ex. 70, Bassem Soueidan
Dep. 188:2-188:8 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No. 206-5] (confirming that Grunley-Walsh was not
allowed to turn steam on or off at the job site because “by contract, that's not ouokaaplke
to do”). This point ifurthercorroborated by an expert report submitted by the plaintiffs that
states that “[c]ontractors do not have the authority to operate @8/ stalves . . .” Exs. In
Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 25, Expert
Witness Report of Suzanne H. Harness 8 (Apr. 29, 2010) [ECF No. 202-12].

There is no question that Frank Stotmeister knew he was not authoripredifmlate the

steamline valve in Manhole 11 for the purpose of shutting off the steam because GNallsy-

25 Exs. In Supp. of United States’ Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 2, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 15:

15:22 (March 16, 2007) [ECF No. 175{%}ating that Frank Stotmeister reported to Bassem
Soueidan).
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employees wertwice rebuked when GrunleWalsh’ssubcontractor, M&M Welding, shut off
steamwhile performing work for the 17t8treet Steam Distribution ProjedDuring the first
occurrenceM&M Welding shut down a temporary boiler connected to Manholhatiwas
supplyingsteam tahe New Executive Office Building® after which Grunley-Walsh and its
contractors were “reprimanded very heaviby GSA officials. United States’ Supplemental
Mem. In Support of Motfor Summ. J. Ex. 4, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 36:7-36:9 (Mar. 16, 2007)
[ECF No. 122-1]. Itis undisputed that a resulrrank Stotmeisteattendech meeting during
which GSA officialsadmonished the contractors aboutsteamshut dowr?’ J.A. In Supp. of
Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. D, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 58:14-60:18 (May 25,[ECEo.
161-4], andBassem Soueidan told Stotmeister that shutifhthe steam was not to be done
again,id. at 71:10-72:151n addition,Brian StaudenmaieFrank Stotmeistés direct supervisor
at GrunleyWalsh testified during a deposition thaifter the incidenthe forwarded to
Stotmeister a copy of a Januad, 2004, email from a GSA HOTD official stating that the
contractorsould contact identified GSA HOTD personnel if they needed an “unexpected or
unplanned shutdown of the steam.” United States’ Combined Reply In Supp. of Mot. for Summ.

J. Ex. 5, Brian Staudenmaier Dep. 67:5-67:18 (Mar. 12, 2008) [ECF No. 10@8:a{ email

26 Pls.” Mem. of P&A In Opp’n to Def.’s Joint Mot. for Summ. J. 17 [ECF No. 196]
(describing the circumstances of the steam shut down); J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ
Ex. B, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 161:1-163:20 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No. 18§thtit}g that “what
we did here was shut down the boiler . . . [w]e didn’t touch any GSA systethsl);Ex. B,
Letter from Brian Staudenmaier to Thonda$inson (Jan. 12, 2004) and Letter from Mark
Middleton to Brian Staudenmaier (Jan. 12, 2004) [ECF No. 161-2] (deposition exhibits).

27 M&M’ s Project Manager, Mark Middleton, testified that Frank Stotmeasisrinformed

that the contractors could not shut down the steam without first notifying GSMHEXs. In
Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 42, Mark
Middleton Dep. 226:20-227:18 (Apr. 12, 2010) [ECF No. 2p4-9
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stated thaGrunleyWalsh slould contacthe specified GSA HOTD officials “[flor emergencies

when you need valves to be opened/closed.” J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. B

Email from Greg Westphal to Brian Staudenmaier (Jan. 14, 2004) [ECF No. 161-2] (depositi

exhibit).

Another unauthorized occurrence took place about two weeks later and involved M&M

Welding shutting down and re-opening the steam valve located in Manhole 7, which caused a

steam pressure drop at the Old Executive Office Building. J.A. In Supp. of Joinokgsturhm.
J. Ex. B, Email from Joel Klotz to Thomas Johnson with copies to Leonard Weisgr, Gre
Westphal and John Bright (Jan. 30, 2004) [ECF No. 161-2] (deposition exBHst)In Supp. of
Stotmeister Pls.” Menof P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 70, Bassem Soueidan
Dep. 45:4-46:3 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No. 206-3ffter that occurrence, emails between
GrunleyWalsh officials and GSA officials indicated that the cas®f an emergency, Grunley
Walshwas authorizetb enter thesteamvault at the Point of Connection for the purpose of
shutting down thentiresteam systemExs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” MeaiP. & A. In
Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 3, Email from Brian Staudenmaier to Greg Westphal (Feb.
2004) [ECF No. 20143 United States’ Combined Reply In Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 3,
Email from Brian Staudenmaier to Greg Westphal (Feb. 25, 2004) [ECF No. {@écHration
exhibit).

Although GSA HOTDprovided Grunleyalshwith limited authorityto shut down the
entire steam systenuring an emergency, that authority applied only tovdlee located at the
Point of Connection and not &myvalves located imanholeslong the steam lineExs. In

Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 3 [ECF No. 2
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3] (stating that “[d]uring a steam emergency, and an emergency shutdown eftine GW will
promptly ke entering the vault at POCExs. In Supp. of PIs.” Partial Opp’n to Unit&thtes’
Mot. for Summ. JEx 7, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 39:16-39:20,1442:15 (May 25, 2010) [ECF
No. 97-7] (agreeing that the grant of authority to shut down the steam was limited/édvihat
the Point of Connection). Notably, Frank Stotmeister’s bestfiedduring a depositiothatthe
need for an emergency shut-down at the Point of Connection weuldtermined by Frank
Stotmeisteralbeit in conaltation with the project team

Q Who was it that was to determine whether or not there was a need for an
emergency steam shutdown? Who would have made that decision?

A | would say that would be the genecalntractor if we felt there was an
emergency.

Q And who for you at GrunleWalsh, the general contractor, would have
made that determination?

A | would say that it would be you know, our Project Superintendent, in
this case Frank, and work togethsic] with the entire team. It was a
team effort.

J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. B, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 71:13-72:2 (Mar. 16
2007) [ECF No. 161-2f® Aside from determining that @mergency steam shutdown at the
Point of Connectiomvas warranted® however, the undisputed evidence is that Frank Stotmei

wasnotauthorized to operate the steéine valves in a manhole “with or without direction from

28 Given that Frank Stotmeister would have determined whether or not there veakfarne

an emergency shut down there is no merihoplaintiffs’ assertion that was reasonable for
Stotmeister t@assume that, because Thomas Johnson did not giveestter the key to the
Point of Connection, Johnson did not view the situation to be an emergemdyich case
Stotmeister need not employ the emergency procedure. Pls.” Mem. of P&A In Opefsto D
Joint Mot. for Summ. J. 11-12 [ECF No. 196].

29 Which Frank Stotmeister failed to d8ee supra Part II.
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the government.” United States’ Combined Reply In Sapplot. for Summ. J. Ex. 1Bassem
Soueidan Dep. 71:3-71:5 (May 25, 2010) [ECF No. 106-2].
V.

The third instance when Frank Stotmeister’s negligence contributed taube af his
injury and death occurred when he opened the stie@walve inManhole 11. tiremains
entirelyundisputed that, in nonemergersifuations no contractowas everuthorized to opea
steamline valve-- whether at the Point of Connection or in a manhole on3frdet Exs. In
Supp. of Stotmeister PIs.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Sudix. 25, Expert
Witness Report of Suzanne H. Harness 8 (Apr. 29, 2010) [ECF No. 2Q&tdtihg that “[n]o
procedures allowed a contractor to turn the steam backidngf Ex. 70, Bassem Soueidan
Dep. 188:2-188:8 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No. Z)6stating that GrunleyValshwas not
permitted by theontract to turn steam on or off because doing so was “not our scope of wor
do”); id. at Ex. B, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 37:3-37:9 (May 25, 2010) [ECF No. 2@6@p&eng
that GrunleyWalsh and its employees were not authorized to operate thelgtearalves along
17th Streeexcepy; United Stags’ Supplemental Mem. In Supp. of Médr Summ. J. Ex. 11,
Robert Hixon Dep. 215:17-215:19, 248:5-248:11 (Mar. 1, 2011) [ECF No. 122-1] (depositio
testimony by the plaintiffs’ expert witness confirming that “Stotmeister certkimdy that the
protocol was that HOTD gets called; they turn on the system; we don’t toudh.ii);Ex 5,
Bassem Soueidan Dep. 167:13-167:16 (Mar. 27, 2008) [ECF Ndl.]i&ting that “[a]fter we
turned the steam over . . . we had no busit@sching the steam system™heuncontroverted
evidence reveals that there was no emergency at the time Frank Stotatigstipted to turn the

steam back on by manipulating the stdara valve in Manhole 11. EXxs. In Supp. of Stotmeiste
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Pls.” Mem. of P. & A.In Opp’nto Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 72, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 182:15-
183:1 (Mar. 27, 2008) [ECF No. 206-7] (“I would not consider that turning the valve back on
in fact an emergency”)d. at Ex. 73, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 167:7-8,6095:2195:3 (May 25,
2010) [ECF No. 206-8] (stating “[a]t the time of the reopening, | don’t belikere was an
emergency”);J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. D, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 166:19
167:8 (May 25, 2010) [ECF No. 161; United Stag¢s’ Supplemental Mem. In Supp. of Mtdr
Summ. J. Ex. 11, Robert Hixon Dep. 246:11-246:17 (Mar. 1, 2011) [ECF No. 122-1] (depos
testimony by one of the plaintiffs’ expert witnesses affirming that “there wasneogency at
the time thaStotmeister turned on the valve in manhbileto reenergize the system”); United

States’ Combined Reply In Supp. of Mfuir Summ. J. Ex. 1, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 194:17-

195:3 (May 25, 2010) [ECF No. 108-(“At the time of the reopening, | don’t believe there was

an emergency.”).

It can be logically inferred from the undisputed evidence that the reascontractor
was authorized to open a steéine valve was to ensure safety because of the danger present
by high-pressure steamAs one of the plaintiffs’ expert witnessasknowledged, “with high
pressure steam . . . there’s great risk and there needs to be a process to eysurftdhait on]
safely” because “it's very dangeroudJnited States’ Supplemental Mem. In SuppMot. for
Summ. J. Ex. 11, Robert Hixon Dep. 213:16-213:20 (Mar. 1, 2011) [ECF No. jla&did
Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. &IA Opp’'nto Mots. forSumm. JEx. 43, Mark
Middleton Dep. 278:3-281:21 (May 18, 2010) [ECF No. 204-%tjt(hg that th@rocesgo open
high-pressure steam valsevas for safety andigh-pressuresteam must be handled properly to

avoid water hammer and other complication)r fRore than a century federal courts have
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recognized that steam, and the “escape of live steam,” is dangdismosint De Valle Da Costa

v. Southern Pac. Co., 176 F. 843, 845 (1st Cir. 1910) (noting that piping and valves permitted
“the improper and @hgerous escape of live stearaif)dFrank Stotmeister’voss stated that
“anybody would” appreciate the dangers associated with working on a stdam,dy%. 73,
Bassem Soueidan Dep33:3-133:8 (May 25, 200JECF No. 206-8]. Thus, according toet
plaintiffs’ expertwitness “only people skilled in that process [of safely turning on steam] shot
be attempting to reenergize a steam systddnited States’ Supplemental Mem. lo@. of

Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 11, Robert Hixon Dep. 213:21-214:2 (Mar. 1, 2011) [ECF No. 122-1]
(stating “[t]hat’s true” and “I agree”).

Theundisputed evidenaevealsthat Frank Stotmeister was not skilledie proess of
safely turning on steankrank Stotmeister reportedly knew a lot about steam, the dangers
associated with steam systerandthe procedures to sayefurn onsteamby slowly opening the
valves, but he was not a steam expéixs. In Supp. of Stotmeister PIs.” Mem. of P. &IA.
Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 43, Mark Middleton Dep. 278:3-281:21 (May 18, 2010) [EC
No. 20440] (stating that Frank Stotmeistardw the procedure to open and drain the steam

system and that the procedure was for “safety’s saRét));at Ex. 70, Bassem Soueidan Dep.

30 The plaintiffs challenge Mark Middleton’s deposition testimony that Fraotateister

understood the procedure by arguing that Middleton’s testimony was only about the “chain
command” for reenergizing so Stotmeister was not aware of the “specHeneggization
procedures used by HOTD.” Pls.” Mem. of P&A In Opp’n to Defs.” Joint Mot. for Summ. J. ?
[ECF No. 196]. The plaintiffs apparently overlook, though, Mark Middleton’s testimony that
Frank Stotmeister was aware of the technical procedure that involved crackig and
draining the condensate and that Stotmeister knew tbeg¢gure was for safetyfxs. In Supp.

of Stotmeister Pls.” Menof P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. foSumm. JEXx. 43, Mark Middleton
Dep. 281:2-281:21 (May 18, 2010) [ECF No. 2I¥)- The plaintiffs also fail to cite any other
evidence to contradict Mark Millieton’s testimonyas a result, it remains undisputed that Fran
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145:12-22 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No. 206-5] (“Frank been [sic] around mechanical systems for
many, many years. | belie he was a master plumber and a master HVAC. That does not
gualify him as a steam expert, but he’s been around steam lingsa) Ex. 73, Bassem
Soueidan Dep. 132:13-132:14 (May 25, 2010) [ECF No. 206-8] (“I would not say he’s a steam
expert, but he’s experienced, yesit) at 133:3-1338 (confirming that Frank Stotmeister
appreciated the dangers associated with working on steam systefn$); Supp. of Joint Mot.
for Summ. J. Ex. A, Brian Staudenmaier Dep. 65:5-65:13 (Mar. 12, 2008) [ECF No} 161-1
(stating that Frank Stotnmeger “knew a lot about steam”AlthoughFrank Stotmeistés boss
statedthat Stotmeisteftknew about steam systemsdaknew how the system functiohs,A. In
Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. Bassem SoueidaDep. 122:19-123:3 (Mar. 27, 2008)
[ECF No. 161-3],heplaintiffs nevertheless concede thatotmeister’'s experience “did not
include turning steam on and off,” Stotmeister PIs.’” Disputed Material Fd@4ECF No. 196-
2], and “Frank Stotmeister had never turned on or turned off a steam valve on the 17th Street
Steam system before April 23, 2004]” at § 73 accord J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ.
J. Ex. C, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 122:14-123:3 (Jan. 18, 2008) [ECF No.(3&kH3} that, to
his knowledgeFrank Stotmeistenad never personally turned steam on oy. dffgoes without
saying that someone who has no experience tumstgam systeiwnis not “skilled” -- as that

term is commonly defin€éd-- in the process of safely turning on steam.

Stotmeister knew the technical procedure for opening a steam-line valve atie fhatpose for
the procedure was safety.

3 The term “skilled” is defined as “having acquired masteryradkil in something (as a

technique or a trade).” MerriaiVebster’s Collegiate Dictionary 1100 (10th ed. 1999).
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Ultimately, though, whether Frank Stotmeister qualified as “skille@f no moment in
light of thedepositiontestimonyby one of theplaintiffs’ expertwitnessesvho stated that no
specialized trainingvasnecessary to understand thasteam linesare beingloodedwith water,
as happened in this caseere might be condensate forming in the steam linesfartdermore,
it would violate a reasonable standard of care to open a-4iteanalve knowingltat the steam
line was flooded with condensate. Pls.” MemPo®& A. In Opp’n To Defs.” Joint Motfor
Summ. J. 25 [ECF No. 196] (identifying Roland O’BriBitls as “the Stotmeisters’ expert”);
Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. &IA Opp’nto Mots. forSumm. JEx. 57,

Rolard O'Brien-Bills Dep. 763:12-76%, 848:22-849:14 (June 8, 2011) [ECF No. 205-The
undisputed evidence shows that Frank Stotmeister knew that the steam lines mgefliobaed
with water,see discussiorsupra Part Il, in which case he should have known that condensate
might be forming in the steam lindsxs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’
to Mots. forSumm. JEx. 57, Roland O’'Brien-Bills Dep. 763:12-764:5; 848:22-849:14 (June
2011) [ECF No. 205-7]. The plaintiffs do not dispute that water condensate must be draine
from a steam line before the steam is turned back on “or a dangerous situatiate$ wiach
may cause water hammer or pipes to ruptufinpare Statement of Material Facts Not In
Dispute § 30 [ECF No. 160-1)ith Stotmeister PIs.’ Disputed Material Facts 30 [ECF No.
196-2] (disputing that “the technical or engineering reasons for turning affi siethe POC
applied to Frank Stotmeister on the morning of April 23, 2004” but otherwise not disputing t
the failure to drain condensate from a steam line creates a dangerousnséndtmight cause a
water hammer).The plaintiffs’ expert witnesgonfirmed that such a dangerous situation

materializedvhen he testifiethatFrank Stotmeister’s act of opening the stdama valve in
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Manhole 11 created a “pressure difference” that increased the steam flow towardeManho

and, when the steam mixed with water condensate, caused the “shock waves” og"litzestin

expladed from the drip leg in Manhole 11. Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of PIn& A.

Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 58, Report from Roland O’Bidrs to William P. Lightfoot
54 Figure 11 (Jan 20, 2011) [ECF No. 205-8] (the quoted language is contained in the secti
the expert report titled “Evidence, Observations and Findings”).

Consequently, knowing that the steam lines had been flooded with waias,
unreasonable and dangerous for Frank Stotmeister tatlopastearrine valve in Manhole 11,
particularly when héad noauthority to do so, nexperience doing s@nd had not first drained
the watercondensate from the steam systeé®totmeister’s actions are inexplicable in light of
the undisputed fact th&SA HOTD officials were “on call” in the event of an emergetiey
morning of thewater line tiein project so Stotmeister could have contacted$A HOTD
official before taking matters into his own hands. Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeiste¥iBia.’ of P.

& A. In Opp’'nto Mots. forSumm. JEXx. 87, United States’ Response to D&Z'’s First Set of
Interrogs. 11 [ECF No. 207-14statingin response to Interrogatory No. 15 that more than ning
GSAor HOTD employees “remain[ed] ‘on calti the event of an emergency, and, as reflecte
in the email from Greg Westphal dated January 14, 2004 . . . the contractors working diong
Street N.W. on the morning of April 23, 2004, had been provided telephone numbers of cer
HOTD supervisors to contact in the event okamergency”).Alternatively, Frank Stotmeister
could have contacted officials at M&M Welding for assistance turning the dieavalve on or
off given thatthey were “steam specialist[sffho GrunleyWalshsubcontractewith because of

their expertise. Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” MehP&A In Opp’n to Mots. forSumm. J.
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Ex. 70, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 145:1-145:4 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No. 206-5]; J.A. In Supp!.

Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. C, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 124:2-124:3 (Jan. 18, 2008) [ECF N
161-3](stating “I would consider M&M a steam specialist”). Frank Stotmeistgrésation of
the steam line by opening the valve in Manhole 11 in the absence of skill, experiautiority
was unreasonabfé.
V.
Theplaintiffs contend thaFrank Stotmeister’actions shutting down and re-opening the
steamline valve in Manhole 1Was reasonable becauseactedt the direction of Thomas

Johnson, who the plaintiffs assert was the “project manager asiteaepresentative of GSA”

and who Stotmeister viewed asleent. Stotmeister Pls.’ Disputed Material Facts 1 6 [ECF No.

196-2] Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Defs.” Joint Mot. for Summ. J. 5-7 [ECF No. 196]

(quoted language on page 5). Even assuming-thak Stotmeister viewethomas Johnson to

be a “government representai or “client,” the plaintiffs cited no legal authority to support the

proposition that, intte District of Columbiaa contractor may blindly follow a clientrderand
beimmunefrom all liability for contributory negligence in carrying out the order. The plaintiff
likely cited no authority for this proposition because it appears that none axisis i
jurisdiction-- as far as this Court can determittes precise gestion of whether an exception to
contributory negligence appli@gen a contractor’s negligence occurs while carrying out a
clients or superior’'s ordehas never been addressed by the District of Columbia Court of

Appeals For the foregoing reasons, though, the Court conclude®teat if such an exception

82 As Frank Stotmeister’s boss testified, “you need a steam expert foriopgrat. .” Exs.
In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Memf P&A In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 70, Bassem

Soueidan Dep. 147:10-147:17 (Mar. 16, 20@Kp{aining that a steam expert was not necessa
to replace piping buvasnecessary to operate the steam)I[E€CF No. 206-5].
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existed the particular fats of this case would not warrant its applicati@mtause there were
alternative methods Frank Stotmeister could have employedsonably execute an order to
shut down or opethe steanline valve, but he chose to proceed in a way that demonstrated 3
lack of due care for his own safety

As an initial matter, it is undisputed that Thomas Johmg&stontractually prohibited
from directing GrunleyWalsh’s employees, including Frank Stotmeisédrout the means,
methods or procedures to accomplish a project. The Alion government contract urather whi
Thomas Johnson was employed stated that “[t]he construction contractors lgreesplensible
for construction means, methods, sequences and procedures used in the construction of th
projects, and for related performance in accordance with their contracts evito#ernment >
Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 2-2t |-
(subparagraph (g)ECF No. 201-2]; J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. P, Thomas
Johnson Dep. 671:11-673:14 (Nov. 17, 2010) [ECF No. 162-9] (confirming that Exhibit 2 of
Exhibits in Support of Stotmeister Plaintiffs’ Memorandum of Points and Autholmties
Opposition to Motions for Summary Judgment [ECF No. 201-2] consists of excerpts of Aliof
contract and accurately refls@lion’s role on both the 17th Street Steam Distribution Project
and thewater line tiein project). It therefore follows that, if Thomas Johnson told Frank
Stotmeister to shut down or open the steam-line valve at Manhalkewils Frank Stotmeister’s

prerogativeto determine the means, methods and procedures to accomplish thétstasleady

noted,supra Parts Il and IV Frank Stotmeisteinad only two reasonable means or methods to

3 There was no contract between Aliand Grunley&alsh. Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister

Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 74, Brian Staudenmaier Dep. 43:10

(Mar. 12, 2008) [ECF No. 207-1].
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accomplish a shut down of any part of the steam system, one that appbsés of emergency
and one that applied in all other circumstances. In the case of an emergenctéiaeister
was authorized tahsit down the entire steam system atRloant of Connection only. In all other
cases, the only means by which Frank Stotmeister could shut down any part of theysteam
was by contacting GSA HOTD and requesting that GSA HOTD perform the Aagin, under
no circumstance, whethar the case of aamergency or otherwisejas Frank Stotmeister
authorized to reenergize teeeam system or open a stelane valve.

To the extent that Thomas Johnson could direct Frank Stotmeister to do anything, th
direction was limited to matters within the scope of work of Grulli&afsh’s contract, and
turning steam on or off was not within that scope.BAssem Soueidaxplained, Thomas
Johnson “can’t direct [Frank Stotmeister] to do anything outside the contract.’ InExspp. of
United States’ Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 2, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 55:5-55:6 (Mar. 16, 2007) |
No. 175-1]. The contracting officer for the 17th Street Steam Distribution Prtgeatanfirmed
that a construction manager or project manager never has the authority to gweet tan
exceed the scope of work under a contrdttird Party DefUnited StatesCombinedReply In
Support of Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 3, Michael Vrobel Dep. 194:3-194:7 (Sept. 7, 2010) [ECF
106-2]. At best, Thomas Johnson could only “direct [Frank Stotmeister] to do things within
contract terms . . . .” EXxs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. f
Summ. JEX. 2, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 55:6-55:7 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No. 2@aS$em
Soueidan confirmed that turning the steam on or off at the job siteatvesthin the scope of
Grunley-Walsh’s contractld. at 188:2-18&8 (“We were not- by contract, that’s not our scope

of work to do.”). In &ct, according to Bassem Soueidan, because the work on the steam sy
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had been completed by the time tinaer line tiein project was underway, Grunléyalsh

employees, including Frank Stotmeister, “had no business touching the steam’syst¢ad

States’ Supplemental Mem. In Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 5, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 167:14-

167:16 (Mar. 27, 2008) [ECF No. 122-1].
It also remains undisputed that Thomas Johnson lacked any authority to grant Frank

Stotmeister access to the “highly regtd” Steam Distribution Complex, including the steam

tunnels and manholedJnited States’ Motfor Summ. J., Supplemental Decl. of Greg Westphal

19 4, 5 [ECF No. 106-1]. The Alion contrdlsat Thomas Johnson worked under involved

projectsfor the GSA White House Projects Offic&,which “is a disinct division of GSA from

HOTD. Id.at 15 “Personnel in the White House Center do not have authority to permit access

into the SDC.”1d. “Only HOTD personnel have authority to permit access into the manholes
that are part of the SDC, such as manhole 11 on 17th Sttdeat { 6. The plaintiffs proffered
no evidence to the contrary and there is no evidence that Thomas Johnson was ever held ¢
be a GSA HOTD (versus White House Center) representative or employee. y&hlaién
officials obviously did not view Thomas Johnson to be a GSA HOTD employee or reptiegen
given Bassem Soueidan’s testimony failing to identify Johnson when asked vihetkewrere
anyGSA HOTD personnel on site the morning of the accident:

Q On the night before and the morning of the accident, do you know if
HODT [sic] personnel were on the job site?

A Not to my knowledge, | don’t believe there would haverba need for
them.

34

(Alion’s contract) [ECF No. 201-2]; Third Party Def. U.S.’s Combined Reply In Supp. af Mot
for Summ. J. Ex. 6, Thomas Johnson Dep. 433:1-433:21 (Nov. 17, 2010) [ECF No. 106-2].
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Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P&A In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 70, Bass

Soueidan Dep. 189:14-189:19 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No. 206-5]. Because there is no dispute

that Thomas Johnson was not a GSA HOTD employegiogsentativea fortiori, there
likewise can be no dispute that he lacked the authority to grant Frank Stetnaecess to
Manhole 11*°

Even if Thomas Johnson directed Frank Stotmeister to shut down or tiln@ siram
line valve in Manhole 1it wasunreasonable for Stotmeister to take it upon himself to
accomplish that tasknder the circumstances. The evidence reflectsTti@has Johnsolacked
any expertise to direct the specific means by which the steam systesteanriine valve
shoud be shut down or turned back on. Thomas Johnson did not “have any role on the job
respect to turning steam on or off’he simply “coordinate[d]” steam shutdowns when Grunley
Walsh needed themExs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. &AOpp'n to Mots. for
Summ. JEx. 70, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 182:5-182:11 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No. 206-5].
Thomas Johnson'’s role with respect to 1fiéh Street Steam Distribution Project was manager
andinvolvedadministrative responsibilities like schedulitige approval of requisitions, and

negotiating change ordergxs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. &IAOpp’'nto Mots.

35 It is a longstanding principle of government contracting tiaf hatever the form in

which the Government functions, anyone entering into an arrangement with the Governmer
takes the risk of having accurately ascertained that he who purports to actGovdrament
stays within the bounds of his authorityr-ederal Crop Ins. Corp. v. Merrill, 332 U.S. 380, 384
(1947). “And this is so even though the agent himself may have been unaware of the

limitations upon his authority.ld. Consequently, even assuming for the sake of argument that

Thomas Johnson could be deemed a government agent or representative, because Johnsg
request to shut down and turn on the steam was outside the scope of @vatdbis contract,
the request arguably would have constituted a new request for work, which would haee res
in a new agreement (whether by a change order or otherwise) for which GNailgy, and
Frank Stotmeister, bore the burden of ensuring that Johnson was acting within the bounds
actual authority.ld.
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for Summ. J. Ex. 71, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 110:11-110:16 (Jan. 18, 2008) [ECF Noi®06-
at Ex. 38, Richard Matkins Dep. 182:8-182:14 (Dec. 12, 2007) [ECF Nb]2@4ating that
Thomas Johnsadfwas in management” and “was suit and tietsus working in manholes).
Thomas Johnson had no steam experience, no understanding about the imptitairahe
purposefor, the GSA plumbers’ request to tuire steam ofbn April 23, 2004, antiedid not
undersand what water hammering wa3.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. P, Thoma
Johnson Dep. 96:6-9801121:8-123:17, 151:2-151:17 (Feb. 4, 2008) [ECF No. 16Z48td
Party Def. U.S.’s Combined Reply In Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. 6, Thomas Johnson D
427:8-427:17 (Nov. 17, 2010) [ECF No. 106-2]. As Bassem Soueidan explained, Thomas
Johnson did not “manage [Grunley-Walsh’s] operations” but, instbasdically” acted as “the
liaison between the Governmeartid the contractor.J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J.
Ex. B, Bassem Soueidan Dep. 70:9-70:16 (Mar. 16, 2007) [ECF No. 161-2]. There is no
evidenceo contradict this.

There alsas no evidenceindicatingthat Thomas JohnsamderedFrank Stotmeistetio
personally operatethe stearline valve inManhole 11. To the contrgrthe record reflects that
Thomas Johnson understabétonly GSA HOTD could turn the steam on and*&nd that
Frank Stotmeistedid “whatever was in the requiremerttshave it turned off at manhole numbe
11,”*" implying that Johnson believed Stotmeidt#lowed GrunleyWalsh’s contract

requirement to conta@SA HOTD to requesd stearrsystemshut down or to turn on the steam-

% Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for SumBx.J.
30, Thomas Johnson Dep. 66:6-6b(stating that “[i]t's their system” so “[t]hey have to turn it
on and off”), 81:5-81:15Mar. 12, 2007) [ECF No. 203-2].

37 Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for SumEx.J.

31, Thomas Johnson Dep. 143:8-143:21 (Feb. 4, 2008) [ECF No. 203-3].
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line valve in Manhole 11. The evidence shows that Thomas Johnson did not view himself &

having either the contractual responsibility or tbatractuahuthority to contact GSA HOTD to

request a steam shut down duringreger line tiein projectbecause there was no contract

between Is employer, Alion, and GSA HOTD, whereas there was such a contract between

Frank Stotmeister’'s employer, Grunl&yalsh, and GSA HOTD

Q

o » O » O » O >

o »

As you know, in the GSA report they indicate that only HODT [sic] was
to turn off the steam, correct?

Correct.

And you read that in the report, right?

That's correct.

And did you know that on April the 22nd -of

| did.

Knowing that, did you call HODT [sic] to ask about turning off the steam?
No.

Knowing that,did you call anybody from GSA about turning off the
steam?

No.

Knowing that, why did you not ask somebody from HODT [sic] to turn off
the steam?

Because | wasn’t involved in thevfiter line tiein] project, so how could |

ask them to turn something off in a project that I'm not involved in? They
would not have recognized it. They would not have known whdhey

may not know who | was. They understood who Frank was. They
understood that Frank had a project going on out there, so he was the
confact between HODT [sic] and the steam at the time.

Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for SumBEx.3B1,

Thomas Johnson Dep. 97:13-98:16 (Feb. 4, 2008) [ECF No. 20f8]evidencéurther shows
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that Thomas Johnson’s only prior communications with GSA HOTD regastiéagn system
shut down requestgserepurely ministerial taconfirmthat White House officialapproved othe
timing of a shut dowrthat GrunleyWalshhad requested from GSA HOTD during a project
progress meetingExs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for
Summ. JEx. 31, Thomas Johnson Dep. 98:17-106:20 (Feb. 4, 2008) [ECF No. 203-3]. The
record is devoid of angvidence thaThomas Johnson everagle such a requdsimself. As

Greg Westphal, the GSA HOTiechanical engineer responsible for “coordinating steam
outages with customer building&testified

Q And, as of April 2004, was Tom Johnson, as project manager of the 17th
Street project, allonwgeto ask the government for a steam shutdown?

A The contractofGrunley\Walsh] would request the shutdown during our
progress meetings, so f@ohnson]wouldn’t actually make the request.
The contractor would — would made the request to the government.

Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. Ex. 94, G
Westphal Dep. 33:8-33:16 (Apr. 13, 2010) [ECF No. 207-21].

Furthermore, een if Frank Stotmeister believed tHa was being directeid personally
operate thsteamline valve in Manhole 11, it was unreasonablehion to do so without ever
alerting Thomas Johnson that he lacked the expertise, experience or cordnabinély to do
so. There are times when common sense must prevail and this cevasolye ofthem inlight
of the unusuatircumstancenvolving the steam tunnel flooding, the danger invojubd fact

that Frank Stotmeister was thepervising contractor responsible for the construcaiivities--

% Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for SumEx.J.
91, Greg Westphal Decl. T[ECF No. 207-18]stating that “I wa the mechanical engineer for
Steam Distribution, with duties that included managing projects, coordinasy stutages
with customer buildings, and locating drawings for other utilities working theasystem”).
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and safety- at the time, and the fact that Frank Stotmeister was knowledgeable about stean
systemswhereaslhomas Johnson was not. If Frank Stotmeister was being asked to do
something he did not know how to do he should have notified Thomas Johrnkanfatt or
sought appropriate guidance about how to safely accomplish the task by contdicialg af
GSA HOTD orperhapseven subcontractor M&M Welding.

The notion that GrunleWalshofficials, including Frank Stotmeister, were patsies who
felt obigated to blindly follow government directives simply does not hold up against the
evidence. From the outset of GrunMjalsh’s contracting relationship with GS&runley-
Walsh officialsquestioned government directives or perfedim amannerthatcontavened
governmenbrders For exampleabout six months after Grunléyalsh was awarded the
contract for the 17th 8tet Steam Distribution Project, Grunfé&yjalsh officialsrefused to
perform the contract as awardaad told GSA “there is no way we can do what they’re asking
for.” Exs. In Supp. of Stotmeister Pls.” Mem. of P. & A. In Opp’n to Mots. for Summ. J. EX. |
Bassem Soueidan Dep. 118:16-118:21 (confirming date contract was awarded), 120:19-20
(quote)[ECF No0.206-5]. In addition, as discusssgpra Part lll, GrunleyWalsh officials
including Frank Stotmeistér,were twice rebuked for shutting down parts ofsteamsystem
contrary to government directives prohibiting them from doing so. The Court theirefare
swayed by the plaintiffs’ gument that “Mr. Stotmeister may even have believed that he wou

be labeled as uncooperative if he objected to the request” made by Thomas Johnson to tur

39 Bassem Soueidan testified that Fr&tktmeisteattended a meeting during which the

prohibition on shutting down steam was discussed and Soueidan himself told Stotmeister tk
steam was not to be shut down again. J.A. In Supp. of Joint Mot. for Summ. J. Ex. D, Bass
Soueidan Dep. 58:8-60:18, 71:10-72:15 (May 25, 2010) [ECF No. 161-4].
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steam off or on. Pls.” Mem. of P&A In Opp’n to Defs.’ J. Mot. for Summ. J. On Issue of
Contributory Negligence 7 [ECF No. 196].

Generally the law has been reluctant to endorgdaatiff's blind adherence to arder
or directive wheralternativemethodgo executehe directiveare availabldutthe plaintiff
chooses to proceed in a way tbdamonstrates a lack of due cérehis own safety Thus, for
examplejn Wasilko v. United Sates, 300 F. Supp. 573 (N.D. Ohio 1967 )ieaeraldistrict court
held that a pilot who was killed when his plane crashed after takiigooffan airport runway in
the wake of a large airlinevas not relieved of his own contributarggligence despitelying
on a clearance that contitmwer personnehegligentlyissued without warning the pilot tfe
risk of airliner wake turbulence 300 F. Suppat 598. The court inWasilko concluded that:

The clearance to use an intersection takeoff did not relieve Pilot Wasilko isom h

final authority and responsibility in the control and operatifh lois plane. Nor

was the intersection takeoff clearance an order lieatvas blindly bound to

follow. He had the right to ‘use either another point on the runway or the full

length of the runway,” FAA Flight Information Manual, Air Traffic Caouitr

Procedures, promulgated September, 29, 1961, and Tower Information Bulletin,

Cleveland Hopkins FAA Tower Facility. To pilot his plane under the

circumstances found to have then existed, knowingly behind TWA 224 and

beneath its flight path, was a failure to exercise care for his own safety and
constituted negligence on the part dbPWasilko.

Id. at 598.
Likewise, n Gish v. CSX Transp., Inc., 890 F.2d 989, 992-93 (7th Cir. 1989), the Seven
Circuit affirmed a district court’sleterminatiorthatthere was sufficient evidence to support a
jury verdict finding that a pipefittawascontributorilynegligentfor the back injuries heuffered
whenhetried toremove a wedgethanhole coveto execute amrderto clear a clogged sewer

line. TheSeventh Circuit noted iGish that there werenultiple methods to remove the lid
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safely and the jury was not required to believe that the supervisor ordered theepijoefi
proceed in the manner the pipefitter chose. 890 F.2d at 993.

Consistent with these case@sAlholmv. American Seamship Co., 144 F.3d 1172, 1179
(8th Cir. 1998), the Eighth Circuiejected a plaintiff's argument on appeal that “because he w
following orders the jury should not have been permitted to find him comparativelger@ghr
to consider whether thergas a safe alternative course of action atithe . . . .” In Alholm, the
plaintiff was a deckhand on a ship who suffered back injaftes holding a heavy cable while
the ship wadeing redocked. 144 F.3d at 1179. After stating that precedent did “not establi
blanket rule precluding a seamfrom being found contributorily negligent when acting at the
direction of a supervisor,” the Eighth Circuit went on to find that there was suffievidence
for the jury to conclude that the plaintiff chose the method of accomplishing thenthek@e a
less safe alternative that contributed to his injudy.

In a more recent case, albeit one that is unpubljghed~ifth Circuitin Pallisv. United
Sates, No. 09-40088, 2010 WL 785171 (5th Cir. 2010) (per curiaevyjewed a district court’s
determination that a seamaras75% contributorily negligent for injuries to his knegstained
while carrying out a supervisor’s order to move trash on a ship. 2010 WL 785171 at T2 3.
facts revealed thatftar being diected to move the trastine seaman asked for helth bulky
items and inquired about using a crane but was told that assistance weailable, the crane
was not working, and chainfalls could be found throughout the ship to lift lodgests 1d. at
**1. The seaman was injured while carrying agsund steel plate to an upper decklargued
on appeathat hehad no obligation to find the safeseando performthe supervisor’slirective

to move trashld. at **1, 3. Unpersuadetly the seaman’argument that “the district court
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erred when it found him contributorily negligent because he was following grtfeed=ifth

Circuit quipped that the plaintiff's argument “would make automatons of seaman” and confli

cted

with its prior precedertiolding that “[a]lthough a seaman may not be obligated to find the safest

method of performance . he has a duty to exercise the judgment and acumen of a seaman
like experience in like circumstancedd. at **3 (citing Gautreaux v. Scurlock Marine, Inc.,

107 F.3d 331 (5th Cir.1997) (en b3ncConsequently, the Fifth @it affirmed the district
court’s conclusionshat “because [the seamaglpcted to move the object that caused his injury
rather than moving lighter items until assistance became available, he codtt@hbi® injury

and “[he]could have used available chainfalls, but chose not to tildgo.

In Atchison, T. & SF. Ry. Co. v. Seamas, 201 F.2d 140 (9th Cir. 1952heNinth Circuit
explainedthat, when an employee receives a general order about what is to be doneabut ng
specific order aboutow to do it, “an employee must use ordinary care in its execution, and t
giving of the order does not affect the question of whether the servant has been niedfigent
manner of carrying it out, where there is a choice open to him.” 201 F.2d at 144. The Nintt

Circuit's decision inJenkins v. Union Pacific RR. Co., 22 F.3d 206, 211 (9th Cir. 1994)in

with

—

L

accord, stating[w]e continue to adhere to the traditional rule that when an employee carries out

his supervisor’'s general order in an unsafe manner, he is responsible under [tk Feder
Employer’s Liability Act] or his own contributory negligencé®
Courts have, however, carved out an exception to contributory negligence when an

employee is complying with superior’'s specific order, which applies when the emplisyee

40 In Collinsv. National R.R. Passenger Corp., 9 A.3d 56 (Md. 2010), the Court of Appeals
of Maryland citedwith favor the Ninth Circuit’s decision idenkins, suggesting that Maryland
courts would follev the specific ordeversus general order principhg,least ashatprinciple
appliesto contributory negligend®r claimsasserteghursuant to FELA.

--57--




“following a direct order to perform a tagka specific manner . . . .” Jenkinsv. Union Pacific
RR. Co., 22 F.3d 206, 211 (9th Cir. 1994) (emphasis addadgord Sewart v. lllinois, 41 III.
Ct. CI. 156 (lll. Ct. CI. 1989) (inmate absolved of contributory negligence for burnsedcei
when he was ordered to remove trays from an oven but the shelf holding the trays came loc
and caused hot grease to spill on the inma&anilarly, at least one state haeated an
exception when an employee’s only choices are to perform under dangerousteincegisse
his job or quit. Miller v. Employers Mut. Liab. Ins. Co. of Wisconsin, 349 So.2d 1353, 1361-62
(La. Ct. App. 1977 (summarizing several such casedjhen howeveran employee has control
over the manner of executing the ordered assignment the exception has not beenldpatied.
1362 (finding that the plaintiff had “as great or greater knowledge” about the tis& figeman
and the plaintiff “had control of the specific manner in which the assignmentanacout”
and voluntarily chose the method uged

Although nearly albf these casasvolve tort actions bgeamen andailway employees
pursuant tahe Federal Employer’s Liability Act FELA”) orthe Jones Ac¢tand none of these
cases is cdmolling, they neverthelesze instructive anderve as cautionary examples that
suggesto the Courthat itshouldhesitatebeforeadopting the plaintiffs’ theory that Frank
Stotmeisteshould be shielded from all contributory negligefareacts taken to execute arder
from Thomas JohnsorRarticularly wherthe plaintiffs cited ndegalauthority fortheir theory,
no evidence demonstrating that Thomas Johnson hacttin@authority to order Frank
Stotmeister t@ersonally shut down or turn on the stelame-valve in Manhole 11, néacts to
show that JohnsoorderedStotmeisteto personallyoperate the steatime valve and no

evidence indicating that Johnson specified the method by which Stotmeister should stcom
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the shutting down or turning on of teeeamsystem The plaintiffs are, in essence, askihig
Court to create a new rule theds never been suggestsistrict of Columbia courts and is
not warranted in light of the undisputed factshis case.

VI.

In the final analysis, the plaintiffs d@nhdispute that “[the cause of the steam release”
that killed Frank Stotmeister can be attributed to the “water that flowed from thawutmain”
and “inundate[ed] nearby steam lines” and that “[w]hen Mr. Stotmeister begamtthepe
isolation valve in Manhole 11, the mixture of condensate and steam surged” and resulted in
“high-pressure shock waves, known as steamdensate water hammer” that “caus[ed] the
massive eruption that fatally injured Messrs. Stotmeister and [JosepéitHuBtotmeister Rl’
Disputed Material Facts 1 72 [ECF No. 196-Zhis is a tragic case and there is no indication
that Frank Stotmeister acted with anything other than the intemistore thathe water line tiein
project wascompleted as quickly as possible so theedts could be reopenedifter considering
all the undisputed facts, howey#re inescapable conclusion is that Frank Stotmeister’'s
decisions and actions while supervising\eger line tiein project-- particularlyhis profound
failure toact to have thevork suspended, the steam system shut dowimeosteam system

evaluated when it became apparent that water froiwdler line tiein project wascausing an

abnormal floodingf the steanvault-- were unreasonable and the proximate cause of the steam

explosionthat killed him Lest it be forgotten, Frank Stotmeistenisreasonable decisions and
actions alsgesulted in the death of Joseph Hudert and serious injury to another contractor.
Although he might simply have been doing his best to assist and accommodate Thomas Jo

when heawice operated the steatime valve in Manhole 11, thiact of the matter is that¢h
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catalyst for the tragedy w&sank Stotmeister’'anreasonable decision to predavith thewater
line tie-in project after it became clear that the water main pipe had not fully drained and the
water was overflowing the excavation trench and flooding the stgatem Once Frank
Stotmeister elected to press on with the project witlhotifying anyone at GSAOTD about

the unusual flooding, the die was cast for the disaster that occurred when heedlttengpien

the stearline valve in Manhole 11 without the authority or skill to do so safely.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasenthe Court holdthatthereis no genuine dispute as to any
material facandthe preponderance of the evidence shows that Frank Stotmeister’'s negliger
wasa substantial factor in causing his injuries and death. The Court further holds tikat Fra
Stotmeister’s injuries and death were a direct resuktasonably probable consequence of his
negligent ac or omissionsAs a resultthe Court will grant thealnt Motion for Summary
Judgment of Alion Science and Technology Corporation, Cherry Hils@uction, Inc., Day &
Zimmerman Group Services, DC Water and M&M Welding & Fabricators, Inc. dissbe of
Frank Stotmeister’'s Contributory Negligence [ECF No. 160] and judgwiéribe enteredhn
favor of Day & Zimmerman and M&M Welding. The foreggireasonslso compel the Court
to deny the pendin§totmeister Plaintiffs’ Motion to Reconsid@&CF No. 246]** which was

filed after the Court entertained oral arguments regarding the motion for syfjuhgment that

4 A motion to reconsider “is discretionary and need not be granted unless thé absitic

finds that there is an intervening change of controlling law, the availabilitgw evidence, or
the need to correct a clear error or prevent manifest injustizysdn v. District of Columbia,

710 F.3d 415, 420 (D.C. Cir. 2013) (internal quotation marks omitted). The Court finds that
there is no intervening change of controlling law, the availability of new evidentee need to
correct a clear error or prevent manifest injusiickght of the reasons announced by the Court
in this decision.

--60--

nce



is the subject of this decisiorFinally, the denial of the plaintiffs’ motion for reconsideration
renders moot the Joint Motion to Strike Plaintiffs’ Motion to Reconsider [ECF No. 249] and
Plaintiffs’ Motion for Oral ArgumenfECF No. 256]. An appropriate ordehallaccompany this

memorandum opinion.

August 25, 2014 M 7 7 A&

Thomas F. Hogax
Senior United States District Judge
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